# Job Performance and Self-Efficacy of Final Assembly Workers in Southeastern Automobile Manufacturing Facilities

by

Tajuan O'Bryan Sellars

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of
Auburn University
in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy

Auburn, Alabama August 7, 2021

Keywords: automobile manufacturing, self-efficacy, job performance workforce training, andragogy, adult education

Copyright 2021 by Tajuan O'Bryan Sellars

#### Approved by

Kamden Strunk, Co-chair, Associate Professor Educational Foundations, Leadership, and Technology

Jane Teel, Co-chair, Associate Clinical Professor Educational Foundations, Leadership, and Technology

Paris Strom, Professor Educational Foundations, Leadership, and Technology Jonathan Taylor, Associate Professor Educational Foundations, Leadership, and Technology

#### Abstract

This study investigated the relationships between final assembly workers' job performance and self-efficacy as assessed by self-reported job performance and general self-efficacy instruments. Study participants were selected based on their employment at one of the Southeastern United States automobile manufacturing facilities primarily located in Alabama, Georgia, and South Carolina. A multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was used to look for statistically significant differences in job performance or self-efficacy based on group membership in either of the independent variables (facility, job function, education level, race/ethnicity). The findings indicated that there were statistically significant differences in the two measures (job performance and self-efficacy) based on the facility where study participants were employed, their job functions, levels of education, and their race and ethnicity.

Recommendations for practice and future research were discussed in the context of major adult education theories.

#### Acknowledgements

Glenda Baumgarner • Wendy Beaver • Brenda Bigelow • LaToya Bigelow (Pycraft) • Chantal Bouchereau • Michael R. Bowden • Brandon Brunson • Billie Bryan • Zanda Bryant • Beth Bukoski • Chris Butler • Melinda Sue Camus • Barry Carroll, Jr. • Jeremi Cheeks • Jason Childers • Chad Cook • Pam Curtis • Johnnie Ellington • Mary Ellen Ellis • Renata Fuller • Nancy Fuller • La'Zain Gadsden • M. Daniel Givens • Kara Groff • Jacob Gross • Shari Gulley • Alicia Harkless • Patricia Harrison • Bonnie Hawkins • Ike Hawkins • David B. Holian • Carolyn Hollinger • Shannon Hughes • LaRon Hunter • Daryl Ingold • Brynn & Chris Jones • Diana Karczmarczyk • Vicki Lassiter • B. Lara Lee • Joann Long • Terry Love • Jean Maness • Shawna McCaden-Buster • Reginald McCall • Porchia McDaniel • Chloe Dean McPherson • Carol Grace Meehan • Karen Misiano • Hayley Moore • Thomas Moore • Sara-Louise Roberts Newcomer • Sally Nicholson • Patrick Pate • James Pegues • Cynthia Phillips • Laura Rotton • Ken Sawada • Melvin Scales • Anne Scott • LaTanya Sellars • Shantia Shackelford • Heather Simon • Sarah Sink • Keith Smith • Ann Stout • Daniel M. Sullen • Cameron Thomas • Dwight Thompson, Jr. • Mary Catherine Turner • Neva Voelkert • Dan Voelkert • Rachel Wagoner • L. Gene Willets • Geoffrey Williams • Maria Witte — *Thank you*.

And a special thank you to my committee:

Dr. Kamden Strunk • Dr. Jane Teel • Dr. Paris Strom • Dr. Jonathan Taylor

In loving memory of my momma, Wanda Sellars.

# Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgments	3
List of Tables	7
List of Abbreviations	8
Chapter I Introduction	9
Background on Training and Education in the Automobile Industry	12
Statement of the Problem	13
Theoretical Perspective	14
Data Analysis Plan and Overview	16
Purpose of the Study	18
Significance of the Study	19
Hypotheses	20
Research Terms and Definitions	21
Research Questions	22
Chapter II Review of Relevant Literature	24
Adult Education Theories	27
Theory of Andragogy	28
Transformative Learning Theory	30
Self-Directed Learning Theory	32

	Experiential Learning Theory	33
	Tying the Adult Education Theories Together	34
	Workforce Training & Education	35
	Manufacturing Jobs and the Economy	40
	Automobile Production and the Manufacturing Industry	42
	Self-Efficacy	51
	Job Performance	55
Chapte	er III Method	61
	Participants	62
	Instruments	64
	New General Self-Efficacy Instrument	65
	Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance.	67
	Procedures	67
	Data Collection	68
	Analytic Approach	71
	Data Analysis	73
Chapte	er IV RESULTS	74
	Research Question One Results.	77
	Research Question Two Results	77
	Research Question Three Results	78
	Research Question Four Results	81
	Research Question Five Results	83

Research Question Six Results	85
Summary	88
Chapter V DISCUSSION	93
Summary of Key Findings	93
Job Performance and Self-Efficacy	93
Age	94
Race and Ethnicity	94
Educational Attainment Levels	96
Manufacturing Facility	97
Job Function	98
Recommendations	99
Recommendations for Future Research.	101
Limitations of the Present Study	103
Conclusion	105
References	106
Appendix A Institutional Review Board Exempt Approval	122
Appendix B Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance Instrument	123
Appendix C New General Self-Efficacy Instrument	125
Appendix D CITI Training for Social and Behavioral Science	126

# List of Tables

Table 1 Participation by Race and Ethnicity	64
Table 2 Participation by Education Level.	65
Table 3 Participation by Manufacturing Facility	70
Table 4 Participation by Job Function	71
Table 5 Descriptive Statistics by Race and Ethnicity and the Dependent Variables	80
Table 6 Descriptive Statistics by Education Level and the Dependent Variables	83
Table 7 Descriptive Statistics by Manufacturing Facility and the Dependent Variables	85
Table 8 Descriptive Statistics by Job Function and the Dependent Variables	88

# List of Abbreviations

NGSE New General Self-Efficacy

SRMJP Self-Reported Measures of Job Performance

NAICS North American Industry Classification System

BLS Bureau of Labor Statistics

MANOVA Multivariate Analysis of Variance

ANOVA Analysis of Variance

AMTEC Automotive Manufacturing Technical Education Collaborative

#### **CHAPTER I**

#### INTRODUCTION

The American automotive industry contributes several million people to the American workforce and billions of dollars to its economy. According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS, 2020), the American automotive industry was employer to nearly 7.4 million individuals in 2019 (BLS). While the automotive industry was not officially designated by the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS), it was loosely defined by the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) for reporting purposes (BLS). According to the United States Census Bureau, the primary purpose of the NAICS was to standardize the way differing government agencies classified and grouped business bodies for statistical analysis of the country's economy (United States Census Bureau, 2021). This was important to aid in understanding all of the bodies, businesses, and organizations that comprise the automotive industry. Based on the NAICS' classification, it can be determined that the industry was not merely anecdotally large but legitimately large based on the standardized way in which the industry was classified.

To further illustrate the impact of the American automotive industry, consider the federal government's response to the 2008-2009 financial crisis. As countries around the globe were injecting stimuli into their respective auto industries to avoid collapses, the American automotive industry provided an outright bailout for manufacturers, fearful that their demise would have a dramatic and lasting negative effect on suppliers and other industries (Stanford, 2010). Hill et al. also shared information that discussed the the scope and significance that the collective US automotive industry had on the American job market (2010). Their data suggested that between direct employment, intermediate employment, and spinoff employment, the industry

served as an employer to over 7.9 million individuals that worked directly for manufacturers, a number that was slightly higher than reported nine years later by the BLS (Hill et al., 2010). The individuals counted in both BLS' figures from 2020 and Hill et al. in 2010 were identified as having worked in areas that were tasked with manufacturing individual parts and components used in vehicle production to the final assembly of automobiles (Hill et al., 2010). In addition, these individuals worked in areas that focused on company and organizational management, scientific inquiry and research & development, supply chain management, administrative, facilities, and support services. The roles mentioned above were the types that were commonly considered to be direct employment jobs, as the individuals in those roles were hired by, earned wages, and received benefits directly from the manufacturers.

Intermediate employment roles within the industry accounted for nearly 1.1 million jobs within the US automotive industry alone in the late 2000s. Suppliers were companies that manufactured and produced parts from raw materials using their professional and technical expertise that were ultimately used in the production of automobile parts and materials. These type of companies were considered the intermediate sector of the automotive industry (Hill et al., 2010). Spin-off employment was made up of automobile maintenance and repair shops, facilities, and wholesale entities that distributed and sold automobiles (Auto Alliance, 2018).

As automobile manufacturing in the United States continued its trajectory to be one of the most significant sectors in jobs and one of the biggest contributors to states' economic bottomlines, states like Alabama, Kentucky, Mississippi, South Carolina, Tennessee, and Georgia were partnering with their local two-year institutions and trades-schools to offer academic and technical training programs that were specifically tailored toward preparing individuals for work

in manufacturing and training. Understanding the growing impact that the Southeast had on the automotive industry within the United States, Rutherford and Holmes discussed the importance of resiliency of the automotive manufacturing industry while also highlighting the impact the industry had on the American economy (2014). In 2018, the Auto Alliance found that the automotive manufacturing industry within the United States alone was responsible for 9.93 million jobs. This number was up nearly 3 million compared to those data previously reported approximately eight years earlier by Hill et al. (2010). Those jobs were responsible for 612 billion dollars in labor income annually (Auto Alliance, 2018).

Forty-four of the country's 50 states had auto-manufacturing-related jobs; and, the automotive industry was ultimately responsible for 6% of the country's gross domestic product (GDP) (Auto Alliance, 2018). In Alabama, the auto industry was responsible for 5.1% of the state's 133,337 person workforce and 7.15 billion dollars in labor income. The automotive industry in Georgia was responsible for 3.6% of the workforce in the state, 11.22 billion dollars in labor income, and a total of 220,310 jobs. Kentucky, the state in this study with the most manufacturing facilities of all those surveyed, had its automotive industry make up 6.3% of the workforce, or 157,759 jobs, for 9.25 billion dollars in labor income. Mississippi's automotive industry made up 4.4% of the state's workforce for a total of 68,687 jobs or 3.44 billion dollars in labor income. South Carolina's automotive industry made up 4.1% of the state's workforce for a total of 113,265 jobs and 5.88 billion dollars in labor income. Tennessee's workforce had 5.3% of its workforce contributed to by the automotive industry for 212,639 individual jobs and a total of 13.74 billion dollars in labor income (Auto Alliance, 2018).

#### **Background on Training and Education in Automotive Industry**

Assembly workers in automobile final and general assembly plants brought their previous educational attainment and training to the job. Mori and Kikuchi (1992) provided an undergirding for understanding how the automotive industry would later evolve into one that required a skilled labor force that was able to quickly adapt to and implement increasing technological means of production and manufacturing within the field. With this increase in technology and advancements in manufacturing practices, research needed to be conducted to understand how attitudes affected job performance and training needs across the industry (Judge et al., 1998).

In the past, researchers studied ways in which future on-the-job training could positively affect the efficiency and effectiveness of final assembly line workers' performance on the job. Cooney (1997) argued that firms, specifically those within the Australian market, would need to dramatically rethink how they trained final assembly line workers to better compete in the global market. Further, Hermawati et al. (2015) argued that the increased technological components of modern-day automobiles required advanced training techniques beyond the traditional skilled laborer and vocational training programs.

There have been several studies where the authors discussed the incipiency and importance of virtual training as the preferred and most economical way to train individuals within the automotive industry (Hermawati et al., 2015; Ordaz et al., 2015; Carruth, 2017; Gorecky et al., 2015). Gorecky et al. (2015) further argued that virtual training would lead to better overall training for employees and reduce costs associated with the manufacturing process.

#### **Statement of the Problem**

While there were significant changes within actual vehicles that precipitated a discussion on how the automotive industry itself was in the process of changing, discussions in the mid-2000s caused scholars and those within the industry to assess how a potential shortage of skilled workers would negatively affect the industry (Chen, 2020). Some scholars suggested that the best way to fill the skills gap — to best prepare individuals for roles in automotive manufacturing — was to engage community colleges and allow them to lead the education and training for these roles (Chen, 2020). However, there remained a gap in the literature that focused on how final assembly workers felt about their abilities to learn and implement new tasks and new information and how they viewed their performance in their roles as final assembly workers. The skills gap was expected to create a shortfall of skilled workers to the tune of 2,000,000 workers by 2021 (Giffi et al., 2015). Many other employers across varying industries have expressed their concerns about the skills gap, and that increases in technology both in the workplace and in the products being manufactured, built, and created were causing the increase in the skills gap and limited abilities of workers (Schoene, 2012).

There was also an imminent shift within the automotive industry that was predicated on the need to increase operational efficiencies and competitiveness with other manufacturers while decreasing costs associated with production and overall vehicle emissions. Gorecky et al. wrote about the need for manufacturers to reduce costs associated with automobile manufacturing; and, they suggested that one way this could be done was through more intentional and effective ways of training that reduced time, errors, and defects in manufacturing and reduce the resources needed to provide those training experiences (2015).

With the global community concerned with climate change, most manufacturers were beginning to seek ways to maintain — and even increase — market share while simultaneously meeting the aforementioned goals centered around environmental conscientiousness and energy efficiencies. Thus, the automotive industry found it necessary to implement effective and efficient training to ensure its skilled laborers were successful in the final assembly of vehicles for distribution and sales while simultaneously reducing overhead costs.

The automotive manufacturing industry in Alabama was considered to be both robust and thriving, as there were several facilities in the state with more on the horizon. Despite the nature of the automotive industry in the state, there was no literature that aids in understanding how employees' attitudes of themselves (self-efficacy) affect job performance or how educational attainment played a role in that job performance. One of the driving questions in the present study asked if there were considerable or significant gaps in how individuals of varying educational backgrounds performed in their roles in automobile manufacturing final assembly plants? What role did self-efficacy, as a whole, play in job performance? How could future training address the needs of the industry to increase performance, productivity, and firms' bottom lines?

# **Theoretical Perspective**

In its most basic definition, self-efficacy had been described as an individual's belief that he or she could effectuate tasks or behaviors that led to or produced specific outcomes (Bandura 1977; Carey & Forsyth, 2009). Self-efficacy was similarly defined as an individual believing they could deliver an expected level of performance or an outcome (Bandura, 1977, Judge et al., 2007). Researchers Stajkovic and Luthans suggested that there was a correlational relationship

between self-efficacy and job performance (1998). Other researchers, such as Martocchio and Judge, found that self-efficacy also informed the training outcomes of individuals (1997). Still, others were cited as equating a positive relationship with self-efficacy and job outcomes (Beattie et al., 2016). Having this background and knowledge, researchers could begin to understand the importance of building employees' self-efficacy to increase their job performance. Self-efficacy could potentially be the key to understanding how to best implement training that provided greater effectiveness on the job (Brennan et al., 2019; Zaki et al., 2019).

Perhaps one of the most significant challenges was a lack of understanding by industry leaders on the impacts of self-efficacy in outcomes and performance. Some programs had relative success with bringing about the workforce needed to fill positions within manufacturing jobs in the automotive industry (Stratos et al., 2016; BMW, 2021). Despite some studies on the effectiveness of a handful of training programs within automobile final assembly manufacturing facilities, none of the readily available research appeared to question the effects of self-efficacy and educational attainment on self-reported ratings of job performance measures.

In this study, the focus was to understand how workers' self-reported measurements of job performance correlated with their self-efficacy scores. In addition, there was a focus that was concerned with how educational attainment affected both job performance and self-efficacy. Ng and Feldman questioned the relevance and importance of educational attainment on job performance, as there had been very little research that sought to address the interaction between the two measures at the time of their study (2009). For this reason, I felt that it was essential to test for significant interactions between educational attainment, attitudes or beliefs about

individuals' abilities to do the work tasked to final assembly line workers, and self-reported ratings of job performance.

# **Data Analysis Plan and Overview**

This study used a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) to test for significant differences in job performance and self-efficacy based on the educational attainment of final assembly workers located in the Southeastern region of the United States. This study surveyed final assembly workers of automobile manufacturing plants located in the Southeastern part of the United States to understand if respondents' New General Self-Efficacy scores and their self-reported measures of job performance were significantly different based on respondents' levels of educational attainment. The New General Self-Efficacy (NGSE) instrument by Chen et al. (2001) and the Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance (SRMJP) scale (Carlos & Rodrigues, 2016) were used to understand participants' levels of self-efficacy and their beliefs about their job performance in automotive, general assembly. Participants for this study were chosen based on whether they were employed as final assembly workers at any of the region's automobile manufacturing facilities. In addition, each participant needed to be employed as a general assembly worker for a minimum of three months.

A Qualtrics survey was created and distributed to final assembly employees of plants in Alabama, Georgia, Kentucky, Mississippi, South Carolina, and Tennessee. These were the locations that housed one or more automobile final assembly manufacturing facilities. Those who were employed as managers, administrators, building support (custodial, grounds, building repair/maintenance), or other positions not involved in the literal final assembly process were not chosen to participate in this study. For the sake of this study, general and final assembly workers

were defined as those who were involved in the final stages of vehicle production and assembly using vehicle components that resulted in the total construction and preparedness of the vehicle for distribution and sale. The term general or final assembly line worker did not refer to any individual who worked at any number of suppliers that supplied parts or pre-built components such as engines, transmissions, electronic components, safety components, et cetera. Note that the terms final assembly worker and general assembly worker have been used interchangeably within this work.

Similarly, the phrases final assembly and general assembly were used interchangeably in this work. Final assembly facilities are where all components come together to complete the production of a vehicle before distribution and its retail sale. Participants were initially solicited through contacts who had close connections with friends and family at the locations that perform final vehicle assembly. Eventually, I sought to find study participants using social media posts, snowball sampling, word of mouth, and purposive sampling.

A historical literature review focusing on the automotive industry, manufacturing, and self-efficacy was conducted to understand, in greater detail, each of these areas of interest and to identify in what ways the literature failed to address the relationship between self-efficacy, job performance, and educational attainment within a sector of the manufacturing industry. As a whole, the literature focused on ways in which the automotive industry, from a historical perspective and the perspective that the industry would operate as it had, may seek to train individuals in a more effective yet more efficient way by implementing virtual training methods (Hermawati et al., 2015). Vocational education entities and training arms of manufacturing firms

should seek ways to encourage greater educational attainment, including certificates, licenses, and societal memberships focused on industry best practices.

### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores and whether there were relationships between those two measures. In addition, this study sought to determine whether there were significant differences in the two measures based on age, race and ethnicity, level of educational attainment, the manufacturing facility where respondents were employed, or respondents' job functions within the facility. As mentioned before, self-efficacy was the idea that individuals understood their capacities to execute or perform various tasks (Bandura, 1997). The self-efficacy score, then, would be used to assess whether employees felt they were capable of learning new tasks and responsibilities in their roles within final assembly plants. This study aimed to understand better the potential differences that race and ethnicity, educational background, and age had on employees within the automobile manufacturing industry.

By understanding these potential differences, training could be developed that ultimately led to greater confidence and abilities and increased workplace performance. This research could also be used to inform future human resources training programs that aim to increase employees' job performance. Organizations and bodies that play a role in the training of automobile manufacturing employees may be better equipped to prepare employees for their work while increasing individual job effectiveness, efficiency, and overall performance.

#### Significance of the Study

As the principal investigator, I sought to examine if correlations existed between final assembly workers' self-efficacy scores and their self-reported job performance ratings and the directions and strength of those correlations. The variables, self-efficacy and job performance, were chosen as part of this study not only because of my interest in the automotive industry, but also because of a hope that they would lead to increased understandings of the academic and technical education needs that would lead to increased efficiency, effectiveness, and success on the job. This goal is especially important as the industry continues its move toward increased technological innovations in design, construction, and vehicle functions that will ultimately rely on a workforce that is confident and competent enough to successfully get the job done. The basis of this body of work was centered around the effects of self-efficacy in workers' beliefs in their ability to perform well in their work environments. In addition to learning how the educational attainment levels of final assembly workers were associated with their self-efficacy and job performance, this study's tertiary goal was to understand how additional demographic markers such as age, race/ethnicity, manufacturing facility, and job function varied in final assembly workers' self-efficacy scores and their job-performance ratings.

This research and its findings may be used to inform how human resource professionals, plant managers, and other leaders within a specified manufacturing facility approach education and training. This study could also inform how practitioners concerned with the development of adult learners prepare for work in the labor market. This study may also be used in vocational education spaces to encourage greater participation and discovery in skilled labor so that employees who eventually work in capacities like those studied here have a developed self-

efficacy that encourages greater confidence in one's abilities that may positively affect job performance.

The findings in this research should also be used to encourage continued collaboration between the automotive industry and institutions that provide vocational education. As they seek employment within the firm and leadership within the firm, both employees will have a better idea of what type of education positively affects one's job performance.

#### **Hypotheses**

A set of hypotheses were developed for this study based on theoretical frameworks surrounding self-efficacy, job performance, and the effects of educational attainment on both measures. Those hypotheses are as follows:

**Hypothesis 1**: Self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores were not associated.

**Hypothesis 2**: Age explained none of the variance in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores.

**Hypothesis 3**: There were no statistically significant differences in self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores based on respondents' race or ethnicity.

**Hypothesis 4**: Educational levels resulted in no statistically significant differences in respondents' self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores.

**Hypothesis 5**: Self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores were not significantly different from manufacturing facility to manufacturing facility.

**Hypothesis 6**: There were no significant differences in self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores based on respondents' job functions.

#### **Research Terms and Definitions**

Many fields and industries are filled with context-specific terms and jargon. This is true within the automotive industry as well as that of the academic settings. In this section, the most commonly used terms in this research have been listed and defined.

**Educational attainment -** is the level of education obtained by the final or general assembly employee. The term educational attainment encompasses any government-sanctioned education (Kindergarten through the 12th grade), post-secondary education (2-year community and junior colleges, 4-year institutions and higher). Educational attainment does not focus on certificates and certifications obtained by the general assembly employee.

*Final assembly/general assembly* - refers to the process by which all components come together for the overall completion of the vehicle for distribution to dealers for direct sales to consumers.

Final or General assembly employee - sometimes referred to as a final or general assembly worker, is any individual employed in a facility engaged in the resultant assembly of automobiles. This term does not include individuals who work in corporate leadership/management, facilities upkeep and maintenance, or other employees who have job responsibilities at the final assembly facility, but not directly engaged in the final assembly.

Job Performance - is concerned with the way in which general assembly employees view their individual abilities to effectuate their job-specific tasks as assigned by the manufacturer.

**Self-efficacy** - is described as a belief in one's ability to effectuate a set of actions or behaviors in order to complete a task or meet expectations (Bandura, 1977, 1986)

#### **Research Questions**

The following research questions were used to guide this study:

**Research Question 1**: Was there an association between final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores?

**Research Question 2**: Was there an association between final assembly workers' age and self-reported measures of job performance, or between age and final assembly workers self-efficacy scores?

**Research Question 3**: Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on race or ethnicity?

**Research Question 4**: Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on educational attainment?

**Research Question 5**: Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on the facilities where they were employed?

**Research Question 6**: Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on job function?

In addition, there is also a desire to understand how roles with a greater perceived task complexity are compared to those where job complexities are not perceived to be as complex or labor-intensive. For instance, do those who work in welding report higher or lower self-efficacy scores and job performance scores versus those who work in interior assembly?

#### **CHAPTER II**

#### REVIEW OF RELEVANT RESEARCH

This chapter will focus on reviewing relevant literature to the larger body of work, starting with an introduction to and highlighting the popular theories surrounding adult education. Then there will be a shift toward literature focusing on workforce training and education that will be discussed. After discussing workforce training and education, this work will move toward manufacturing jobs and the economy before discussing automobile production and the automobile industry. This chapter will conclude with a look at the literature surrounding job performance, how it is measured, and how self-efficacy has been used in different fields.

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores and whether there were relationships between those two measures. In addition, this study sought to determine whether there were significant differences in the two measures based on race and ethnicity, age, level of educational attainment, the manufacturing facility where respondents were employed, and respondents' job functions within the facility.

There is considerable research investigating the effects of self-efficacy in the academic and healthcare contexts. However, there was not much work that focused on self-efficacy in other contexts, mainly manufacturing and technology-related work environments. Similarly, there was not much work that discussed job performance in automobile manufacturing or the assessment of employees' performance using self-reported measures of job performance in those settings.

This work seeks to provide a bridge — a path to understanding the potential relationships between educational attainment, self-reported measures of job performance, and self-efficacy. The ultimate goal is to understand not only how self-reported measures of job performance are affected or correlated with self-efficacy but also and eventually how formal and organizational measures of job performance are correlated with self-efficacy. These two variables, self-reported job performance, and self-efficacy were considered juxtapose one against the other. However, they were also considered in the contexts of a specific manufacturing facility, job function, race and ethnicity, age, and educational attainment level.

#### The Importance and Utility of Theory

Theories provide a basis from which phenomena or situations can be examined. They aid in an ability to implement practices more effectively that bring about the most positive change. Using theory results in less time being spent trying to understand a situation because there is already a body of knowledge or set of principles that inform our understanding. Malcolm Knowles talked about the importance of theory and how it could be used to analyze a group of facts in relation to others, highlight and explain general and abstract principles of a body of fact, is a plausible or scientifically acceptable general principle or body of principles that explain phenomena, while often serving as a hypothesis assumed for the sake of an argument or investigation, and most plainly, an abstract thought (1973). In their work *Theory Follows from Practice: Lessons from the Field*, Sommer and Strong (2016) stated that theory provided a way to get to useful generalizations. Goutrho (2019) stated that theory should be used to better help individuals make sense of a world that is complex and under constant transformation. In Gouthro's 2019 work, she argued that theory, regardless of the discipline, is convoluted, sloppy,

and messy while simultaneously acknowledging the utility of theory in practitioners' work lives and their abilities to understand contextual and societal challenges facing students more effectively.

In adult education, theory has been used to understand how and why adult learners participate in adult education. A few of the most salient theories in the discipline are andragogy, transformative learning, self-directed learning, experiential learning, and project-based learning. Many adult education students understand that Knowles' contribution to the field was considered instrumental to contemporary understandings of adult education (Knowles, 1973, Gouthro, 2019). There are varied beliefs among scholars in their quest to define adult education and how theories about the discipline should be defined and ultimately applied and put into practice.

Boeren et al. (2020) described adult education as a first-floor discipline - that is to say that adult education draws its meaning from other social science disciplines like psychology, sociology, and philosophy (Goutrho, 2019). Of course, this analogy assumes that floors are labeled and numbered as they are in Europe (ground floor, 1st floor, 2nd floor, et cetera).

Wang et al. (2019) presented a paper that sought to reinvigorate the discussion about the two theories they argued were most used in adult education contexts - critical theory and transformative learning. Their work asserted that both theories needed further development while simultaneously acknowledging how reliant students and practitioners in the field were on these specific theories. Knowles' stated that early theories in adult education tended to focus on theories about children and how they learned (Knowles, 1973). These theories were "scaled" up or down to account for the mental and social development that took place due to the expected

growth of individuals from a child into an adult (Knowles, 1973). In the next section, the more popular theories in adult education are discussed.

#### **Adult Education and Its Theories**

It has been asserted that adult education suffers from "multiple origins" (Ross-Gordon, 2017, p. 27). That is, the field is vast and often exhibits multiple identities and conflicting definitions. In this work, adult education will be defined as "a process whereby persons whose major social roles are characteristic of adult status undertake systematic and sustained learned activities for the purpose of bringing about changes in knowledge, attitudes, values, or skills" (Darkenwald & Merriam, 1982, p. 9); or, to be more inclusive of those who may not be engaged in roles that place them in contemporary understandings of the word "adult" or those who may not actively engage in formal, structured, or organized learning, adult education should be extended to include "activities intentionally designed to bring about learning among those whose age, social roles, or self-perception, define them as adults" (Merriam & Brockett, 1997).

The rather popular or mainstream belief about adult education is that it is often limited to remedial and workforce education. However, adult education is an area that has found itself manifest in many forms and mediums. The obvious ones, those centered around remedial education and those centered around workforce training and development, tend to overshadow some of the more nuanced meanings and expressions of adult education. These often less-obvious meanings include new skills or projects that fall under self-directed learning (Merriam & Bierema, 2014), those that happen outside of formal settings like institutions of higher education that train and educate adults how to be experts in the field of adult education (Marsick et al., 2009), or those that encourage learning a new language for enjoyment. Nevertheless, groups like

the American Association for Adult and Continuing Education work to educate practitioners to be well-prepared to challenge and educate those who lack a complete understanding of the totality of adult education.

#### Theory of Andragogy

The term andragogy has been traced back to German educator Alexander Kapp, who was quoted as having asserted that andragogy was the education of the man (Loeng, 2017). The word andragogy is rooted in the Greek language with andr- meaning "man" and -agōgos meaning "leader" (Stevenson, 2010). As such, the word itself means "leader of man." However, Knowles' assertion that adults learned differently from children aided in the term andragogy being popularized in the 1970s despite its use being traced back to Europe almost 150 years earlier (Knowles, 1988; Merriam & Brockett, 1997; Loeng, 2017). Knowles himself was introduced to the term andragogy by the Yugoslavian educator, Dusan Savicevic, in 1967; Knowles went on to publish works that aided in popularizing the term a few years later (1970). Although Malcolm Knowles did not coin the term andragogy, no explanation of modern adult education should be considered complete without acknowledging his contributions to the contemporary field.

Adult education scholars Gordon G. Darkenwald and Sharan B. Merriam described andragogy as less of a theory and more of "a set of assumptions and methods pertaining to the process of helping adults learn" (1982, p. 14). However, in its most simple form, andragogy is consistently viewed as an art and a science that emphasizes helping adults learn (Knowles, 1980). Based on this definition, andragogy itself can encompass any intentional way in which an individual or an organization assists with the practice of learning by adults.

The six assumptions of the theory of andragogy list a) a need to know in which students are provided with an understanding of the importance and utility of their learning; b) experience that provides a basis or foundation from which adult learners can draw and aid in their learning; c) self-concept that gives adult learners the ability to be independent and make choices concerning their learning; d) orientation to learning in which learners are able to put into practice their new learning with immediacy; e) motivation to learn which is intrinsic and increasingly focused on life tasks, issues, and other challenges; f) readiness to learn in which learning is focused on the needs of solving everyday problems (Knowles, 1984; Roessger et al., 2020; Tight, 1996).

In automobile manufacturing and training, several of the assumptions of andragogy are met when one considers the training requirements of workers. For instance, the need to know assumption of andragogy presumes that workers need to understand the why of their new learning assignments. While the assumption of self-concept might be thought of as challenging in a role that requires a particular learned behavior or skill, when is is assessed more broadly—"adults have a self-concept of being responsible for their own lives...they develop a deep psychological need to be seen and treated by others as being capable of self-direction"— it is easy to see how workers' self-concept is considered in their roles as both learners and workers who need to be seen as sufficiently capable of self-direction (Knowles, 1989, p. 83).

Similarly, workers are likely to use their experiences in the learning process. They can rely on those experiences to provide them with how previous processes and practices worked, thus giving them a basis for learning the new ones. In addition, when workers learn new skills and processes, it is often because those new skills are almost immediately about to be put into

use as the result of a new model being introduced, or a new streamlined process that increases productivity and safety while minimizing risk and waste is being implemented. As such, this lends itself to workers' readiness to learn. Automobile final assembly workers can display orientation to learning new information or skills, as the new learning often helps overcome existing or newly emergent problems on the assembly line. And finally, workers in automobile assembly plants are encouraged by external factors but are likely motivated by their responsibilities as adults, who can often act as caregivers to parents and children while simultaneously being motivated by their desires to feel confident in their roles and in the quality of their work (Merriam & Brockett, 1997).

# Transformative Learning Theory

In their work, *Adult Learning: Linking Theory and Practice*, Merriam and Bierma (2014) stated that transformative learning theory involves, at its core, a learning process of making meaning of one's experiences. Transformative learning, as initially defined by theorist Mezirow, listed ten steps that are involved in the process. The process begins when a rather life-altering event occurs that causes one to question fundamental assumptions of self and the world around them (Mezirow, 1991). This has been described as a "disorienting dilemma" and is considered the first step in Mezirow's transformative learning theory, or a "triggering (of) the process" that is transformative learning (Merriam & Bierma, 2014, p. 84). This eventually leads an individual to question or self-examine assumptions and norms surrounding the issue, followed by a critical assessment of the assumptions held before the disorientating dilemma occurred (Mezirow, 1991). There are competing thoughts on exactly what the steps and realizations are surrounding

transformative learning. However, the premise is universal: one's change in position or stance when viewing themselves or viewing themselves in the grand scheme of things.

Transformational learning theory might be considered a stretch in terms of its use in automobile production. However, in discussing the emergent trends in the automotive industry surrounding the shift from passenger cars to utility vehicles, and internal combustion engines to alternative-fuel and electrified vehicles, the production and maintenance practices are likely to change from the ways they have historically been implemented. For instance, it might come as a surprise to an automotive mechanic who is increasingly expected to engage in the processes generally expected of automotive technicians. The delineation between the two is that automobile mechanics have historically been more hands-on in repairing and maintaining automobiles and their systems. In contrast, an automobile technician has been increasingly expected to perform more diagnostic functions that most often deal with electronics and complex computer systems ("The Difference Between Auto Mechanics and Auto Technicians: Breaking It Down," 2021). Automobile mechanics who are faced with the expectation that they employ computers and other technical diagnostic software might find themselves in a position to increase their training in those areas, causing them to rethink their original assumptions about their jobs and question the traditional norms surrounding their work.

Many automotive manufacturing processes have persisted through significant shifts in the automotive tastes of consumers, with the manufacturing process remaining essentially unchanged since the introduction of the moving assembly line by Henry Ford in 1913 (Automobile History, 2010). However, innovations and efficiencies in manufacturing processes, precipitated by Japanese firms in the 1980s, was perhaps the most significant change in

automobile manufacturing since the moving assembly line; and, as the industry emerges with even greater demands in efficiency, resource management, and quality, disorienting dilemmas and moments for workers are likely to require transformative learning to guide workers to success.

# Self-Directed Learning Theory

Self-directed learning theory involves a process of learning in which learners take the lead in planning, implementing, and ultimately assessing and evaluating the learning that has taken place. Self-directed learners take control over the entire process — what is to be learned, the resources needed to learn it, the timeline, the tactics, strategies for learning, and the evaluation process to assess how effective that learning has been (Knowles, 1975). One example of self-directed learning might be that of an individual who took up photography as a new hobby after finding increased levels of free time. In this example, the learner decided that photography was a new skill that they wanted to learn, they secured the resources (perhaps a camera and other gear), developed the timeline (a schedule of when they would study and practice the skill), developed strategies for learning (finding tutorials like how-to videos and guides), and determined on their own how effective their learning has been (perhaps assessed by how pleased they were with their progress, or if they were able to convince enough people that their new skill was worth compensation).

However, self-directed learning poses a challenge in contexts when time is money or when individuals have little free time in their workdays to engage in unsanctioned training. For example, a challenge to the use of self-directed learning in automobile manufacturing is that very specific skills are necessary at very specific times. Because of this, manufacturers have not

historically allowed for such autonomy on the production line when specific production targets have to be met. It is hard to imagine a space in any highly efficient work environment where self-directed learning might be possible while on the clock. Exceptions to this might be instances in which organizations allow for a certain number of professional development opportunities in which they give workers space and time to seek additional training outside of what is required.

#### Experiential Learning Theory

The theory of andragogy has been described as the practice and ways in which we help adults learn. Self-directed learning involves learning that is primarily initiated and sought after by the learner. Transformative learning involves reassessing previous assumptions and beliefs about one's self and how they fit in the grand scheme of things. The next theory, experiential learning theory, combines learning with considerations of how past experiences inform new ones and how new experiences ultimately influence future experiences (Bass, 2012). Experiential learning has been described as adult life experiences generating new learning and acting as resources for further learning (Merriam & Bierma, 2014). Experiential learning is learning from doing. It hinges on the reflective part of a concrete process. As Maiya Dernova (2015) put it, experiential learning involves action-reflection and experience-abstraction, ultimately leading to students' engagement to direct experiences tied to real-world problem-solving. Perhaps one of the most important aspects of experiential learning comes from the reflective process, a component that many argue is key to learned experiences (Kuk & Holst, 2018).

Perhaps most germane to the intersections of workforce training and education, the automobile industry, self-efficacy, and job performance is the experiential learning theory.

Experiential learning is the adult education theory that best aligns with how final assembly

workers are assumed or expected to learn. In the automotive manufacturing industry, experiential learning has been boosted by federal and state programs that have aided in developing or injecting funding into their already existing manufacturing skills and training programs at local community colleges (Chen, 2019).

Several manufacturing firms have partnered with neighboring community colleges to develop and implement curriculum for skilled workers for the automobile manufacturing industry (Sledge, 2012). For example, Toyota in Kentucky developed a training curriculum for the Kentucky Community & Technical College System called Automotive Manufacturing Technical Education Collaborative (AMTEC), eventually adding General Motors and the former Chrysler (previously Fiat Chrysler Automobiles, now Stellantis) (Sledge, 2012).

In the AMTEC model, modules were employed that allowed workers to learn bits and pieces of new information and processes. Perhaps the most important part of experiential learning comes in the form of assessments that seeks to provide management with a baseline of knowledge for each employee. The knowledge is first put into practice in manufacturing simulators to allow the standard workflow on the assembly line to continue uninterrupted while preserving the quality of the products currently in production (Sledge, 2012).

## Tying the Adult Learning Theories Together

In the last several pages, I have highlighted the complexities of several adult learning theories and how they might be of the most significant utility in automobile manufacturing contexts. While one, in particular, seems to be best suited for practice in automobile production, the truth is that several of these adult learning theories can be implemented to best provide the type of training and education workers need to be successful. To circle back to an earlier part of

this section that discussed the utility of theory, assessing the training needs of final assembly workers in automobile contexts through theory can assist human resource professionals and managers in their capacities to support the training and skills needs of workers, as there is no one theory that can be used to assess all situations.

#### **Workforce Training and Education**

Training in industry tends to pose challenges to firms. Maintaining productivity while simultaneously working to create the necessary space for training tends to be at odds with one another. One way around these competing needs might be addressed using remote and mobile training while keeping employees close at hand. In Colorado, Pueblo Community College developed mobile training units that provided the high-quality training needed to aid industry hopefuls in developing the necessary hands-on experience needed for employment (Vukich & Ackerman, 2010). According to Vukich and Ackerman (2010), employers' concerns for aging populations who retire and take their informational capital with them were being replaced by new, younger employees was the impetus for exploring newer, more accessible ways of providing training. The challenge which Vukich and Ackerman asserted was that providing this type of training was becoming increasingly more difficult as a result of cuts to budgets and the high cost of technical programs and education.

In 2019, the aerospace industry (The Boeing Company specifically) struggled due to the troubled rollout of the highly-anticipated, next-generation 737-Max aircraft. As the most popular aircraft type based on the number of units sold and by the number currently in operation, the airframe of the newest Boeing 737 needed to be an unqualified success to continue its legacy (Smith, 2018).

To counter some of the training difficulties faced by Boeing (the manufacturer of airframes) and airlines like Delta (carriers that buy and lease airframes for use), Boeing implemented technology and software that made the planes fly like earlier versions of the aircraft type. This similarity in flight was achieved despite the newer model having features and a new design that varied dramatically from all previous versions of the aircraft since its inception — a physical change that inherently affected the flight characteristics of the aircraft (Hawkins, 2019). By implementing that new software and technology, the new 737-Max versions of the aircraft required, in theory, no new training for airline pilots. However, according to Hawkins (2019), and as evidenced by the grounding of hundreds of these planes worldwide, pilots did, in fact, need new training to understand how the new flight software and a new wing and engine placement affected the flight characteristics of the new plane.

Some of the challenges and problems of failing to train individuals for their work adequately are exemplified here — there were two airplanes of the type described in this text that crashed within months of each other, killing 346 individuals (all of whom were onboard the two flights). This is an example of an attempt to avoid providing the necessary adult education (or workforce training) needed to help workers (in this case, the pilots) be successful in their roles.

Carruth's (2017) work for the Center of Advanced Vehicular Systems at the Bagley College of Engineering at Mississippi State University focused explicitly on how virtual reality could be leveraged to provide training in several contexts, but most importantly, the automotive context. The benefit of newer virtual reality training was that they provided the appropriate spatial contexts that were hard to achieve before the advent of these systems. These training

mediums also minimized the challenges of loss in productivity, damage to materials and products, and injury (Carruth, 2017). Carruth suggested that, while virtual reality training might have proven beneficial to many, older individuals might struggle to adapt to the technology. This was in direct contrast to Ordaz et al. (2015), who found that older populations, while prone to taking slightly longer on completing virtual training tasks, were just as successful at doing so as their younger counterparts.

Smith et al. (2010) similarly investigated ways in which aging populations might be considered during the formation and development of training programs within the manufacturing industry; and, their qualitative study largely centered on ways in which managers and professional staff could better integrate those aging populations into their training models for more effective and inclusive training. However, while this study provided insight into some aspect of training mature-aged workers for employment in the manufacturing industry, the study was somewhat limiting in that it centered around the Australian manufacturing industry; and, as is the case with qualitative work, generalizability is less possible as a result of the small, by quantitative standards, sample size, despite the rich information that is gleaned from the research.

In Midtsundstad's 2019 work about adult learning and employability in the contexts of increased life expectancy rates, the decline in birth rates, and other factors such as increased retirement ages, the current climate was considered to be prolonging employees' working lives and creating a need to understand how to engage older workers. Midtsundstad's work also found that many factors contributed to the aging population's need to stay in the workforce and that one's level of education dictated how long individuals were in the workplace when they retired

and the quality of that retirement. Based on his work, more educated individuals tended to stay in the workforce longer, mainly if they were the recipients of more formal education (Midtsundstad, 2019). Perhaps the most salient component of his work was to understand whether adult learning or lifelong education had a meaningful effect on an individual's ability to find and maintain employment or whether they affected older individuals' employability (Midtsundstad, 2019).

It might be evident that some firms tailor their training needs to meet their end goals. This is exactly what Smith and Dowling (2001) found during their qualitative inquiry into Australian firms' training practices in the mid-1990s. Smith and Dowling stated that all seven of the firms that participated in the study recognized that their training budgets had increased over previous years' budgets and that they all anticipated their training budgets would increase even more in the following years. Another finding of this work was that managers at each of the firms sought training opportunities that led to immediate and measurable effects, and those that required the least amount of time to design, implement, and incorporate into the on-going everyday work (Smith & Dowling, 2001).

Many of the works presented here have focused on training on the factory floors engaging in manufacturing. This training area is essential because much of the work at higher up levels would be for naught without those in the trenches. However, it is essential to understand how those who ultimately design and engineer products that ultimately need manufacturing are trained. O'Sullivan et al.'s work sought to understand how those tasked with manufacturing are trained and how young engineers are trained in their capacities. O'Sullivan et al. also found that most players within the industry, regardless of the levels at which they were in those industries,

were far behind the curve when it came to an understanding and implementing contemporary adult education and training practices (2011). Their work also found that much of the literature and the curricula were out of date. The industry as a whole found itself on its back foot and unprepared to meet the rapidly changing needs of the global manufacturing industry (O'Sullivan et al., 2011).

Understanding managerial attitudes toward training are vital in addressing the needs of firms' employees. Kucherov and Manokhina's (2017) work looked into the roles of training in Russian manufacturing companies. Their work found that most believed training was essential but lacked the desire to fully implement training outside of quick fixes. This work also found that companies' management and leadership were less than satisfied with the training outcomes of their employees (Kucherov and Manokhina, 2017) and that the number one goal of these trainings should always focus on creating greater efficiencies in employees' work.

One way the challenge of increased efficiency might be addressed is through the appropriate implementation of Lean Six Sigma certification processes. Lean Six Sigma certification is a process in which extraneous processes are eliminated, variations in production are minimized, and reduced waste is realized (Yadav & Desai, 2015). How could Lean Six Sigma certification play a role in manufacturing? There does appear to be a gap in the literature surrounding Lean Six Sigma certification and automobile manufacturing. It does stand to reason that automobile manufacturers could benefit from Lean Six Sigma in manufacturing, because some of the goals of automobile manufacturers are to produce products with fewer variations, to improve efficiency in the production process, and improved vehicle quality (Ikumapayi et al., 2020).

Some manufacturers have committed resources to develop apprenticeships and other training programs to aid in onboarding and retaining a skilled workforce. For instance, BMW Group has long-operated a training center focusing on professional and technical training since the mid-1990s, shortly after the Spartanburg, South Carolina factory commenced operation (BMW Group, 2021). Other examples include the Automotive Manufacturing and Technical Education Collaborative (AMTEC) developed by Toyota's Kentucky manufacturing group in partnership with the Kentucky Community & Technical College System (Sledge, 2012). The AMTEC collaborative was developed to better prepare individuals to meet the emerging needs of skilled laborers - needs that include flexibility in adapting to emerging technologies and processes (Sledge, 2012). One of the benefits to programs such as AMTEC is that they have been designed to provide specific enough training to the partnering manufacturers while simultaneously being broad enough to allow participants to be employable at other manufacturing facilities and in other job functions (Sledge, 2012).

## Manufacturing, Jobs, and the Economy

The job market in the United States and globally saw considerable shrinkage since the onset of the COVID-19/Coronavirus pandemic. Since its start, the pandemic was said to have cost the job market a staggering 22.2 million jobs, of which just over half were recovered by late January 2021 (Mutikani, 2021). In his 2012 article, Goldstein asserted that manufacturing jobs were regularly touted as a key to bolstering the economy, which was predicated on the belief that there was a point in time in which individuals could work in manufacturing and earn a comfortable, middle-class living without the costs associated with obtaining a college education. However, the globalization of economies and the increase in technology were both cited as

reasons why manufacturing jobs were no longer the employment opportunity juggernaut they were at the end of the Second World War (Goldstein, 2012). According to Morris and Thomas, there were upwards of 19 million manufacturing positions at the end of the 1970s. Those numbers had been on the decline since bottoming out at 11 million manufacturing positions as 2010 rolled in (2020). Morris and Thomas (2020) later argued that while manufacturing jobs, on the surface, appeared to have declined dramatically, that the numbers did not tell the whole story because manufacturing entities often purchased products from other industries that significantly helped those industries while greatly contributing to the overall economy. One of the biggest takeaways from their work was the notion that supply chain management was critical to keeping the American economy going (Morris & Thomas, 2020). The challenges to supply chain disruption were witnessed in the automotive industry early in 2021, as semiconductor shortages caused many manufacturing facilities to cut vehicle production around the globe (Reuters Staff, 2021).

Early in 2021, governors of states where automobile manufacturing was one of the most vital job creators and contributors to their states' economies urged the federal government to step in and press chip and semiconductor producers to reallocate resources to build chips specifically for the automotive industry (Shepardson, 2021). At the writing of this body of work, the shortage had caused Ford Motor Company to cut profit projections by one billion dollars, down to 2.5 billion dollars, and General Motors cut their projections by two billion dollars. Ford Motor Company, General Motors Company, Volkswagen Auto Group, Nissan Motor Company, Toyota Motors Corporation, and Subaru Corporation had to cut vehicle production due to the shortage. All of these firms operated manufacturing facilities in the United States.

## **Automobile Production and Manufacturing Industry**

In Alabama, manufacturing remained an industry that was seen as the key to economic growth. Alabama enjoyed a highly sought-after automotive manufacturing industry, with Honda, Mercedes-Benz, and Hyundai all functional final assembly factories in the state. A joint venture between Toyota and Mazda was slated to bring even more manufacturing jobs to the state when their new production facility opened in late 2021. The new Toyota-Mazda venture is in addition to an electric vehicle manufacturing facility by Mercedes-Benz that had already been producing vehicles in the state for over two decades (Moseley, 2021). According to an article written in the *Alabama Political Reporter*, nearly 6,000 jobs in the Alabama automobile manufacturing sector were expected to be added in 2021 (Moseley, 2021). In 2020, Alabama added nearly 2,000 jobs in the automobile manufacturing sector resulting from over a billion-dollar investment in the state (Azok, 2021). Automobile manufacturing jobs in the state of Alabama, according to an economic developer, Nicole Jones, were upwards of 40,000 when accounting for final assembly facilities and suppliers for the different firms in the state (Moseley, 2021).

Other states in the Southeast enjoyed similar economic benefits. However, no other state in the Southeast came close to the number of automotive production facilities in the south outside of Kentucky, which enjoys Toyota Motor Company and its luxury subsidiary, Lexus, Ford, and Chevrolet, where the world-famous Corvette was produced. According to a business source that focuses on Kentucky, automobile manufacturing facilities employ nearly 22,000 individuals who work directly for automobile manufacturing firms (Clinton, 2020). Moreover, while no other state in the Southeast had as many individual firms as Alabama and Kentucky,

states such as South Carolina, Mississippi, and Tennessee each have at least two factories that produce over one million vehicles combined annually.

A change in the automotive industry that may not necessarily affect how vehicles themselves are produced is the shift in American consumers' tastes from sedans to utility vehicles like traditional body-on-frame sports utility vehicles (SUVs). These types of vehicles which share similarities with traditional, body-on-frame trucks like Ford's F-Series trucks, GMs Silverado/Sierra, and Fiat/Chrysler's Ram on which the Expedition, Tahoe/Suburban/Yukon/ Escalade are built — and crossover utility vehicles (CUVs) like Honda's CR-V, Toyota's RAV-4, and Mazda's CX-5 which are modified versions of their smaller sedan chassis (Fiorelli et al., 2019). While this shift in preferences in consumers' tastes may not impact the production methods firms use to build their products, it is a change worth noting.

Like the aerospace industry and the challenges in training and education listed earlier, the automotive industry is at the mercy of governing bodies regarding safety standards, emission requirements, and even how cars are sold and serviced in the country. This makes it imperative that the automotive industry ensures it remains competitive by offering desirable, safe, efficient vehicles, all while remaining profitable. However, with several firms playing for market share, the automotive industry is constantly updating and replacing models, which means there is a need to ensure those on the final assembly lines are prepared to effectively and efficiently perform their job functions. As vehicle technology progresses and newer methods for manufacturing vehicles advance, firms have found it increasingly challenging to attract skilled and well-prepared individuals to manufacturing jobs at current compensation rates (Fiorelli, 2019). Perhaps, what is more, is that firms are constantly having to combat the idea that

automation and robots within the manufacturing process will all but eliminate the need for skilled laborers, which may be a detriment to firms' goals to attract, hire, and retain skilled workers in their manufacturing facilities (Fiorelli, 2019).

Mori and Kikuchi (1992) provided an excellent place to start when discussing the changes in the automotive industry on the heels of the Japanese firms' quest to automotive supremacy in production and manufacturing. Their work provided an undergirding for understanding how the automotive industry would later evolve into one that required a skilled labor force that quickly adapts to and implements increasing technological means of production and manufacturing within the field (Mori & Kikuchi, 1992). That need to evolve, precipitated by the Japanese firms (specifically Toyota), served as the basis for understanding how technology was only as valuable and effective as the individuals who use it.

Gaudart (2000) discussed the need for automotive firms to create ways to ensure older workers could still function in their roles while working on the final assembly line as they progressed in age. Gaudart's work also touched on the need to employ a diverse body of individually skilled laborers on final assembly lines in automotive manufacturing facilities. By doing so, he argued that manufacturers were in better positions to handle economic changes that precipitated a reduction in workforces by training individuals to be better prepared to work in various capacities within a final assembly line (Gaudart, 2000). Gaudart's work further described a need for flexibility to maintain competitiveness with other firms with which the company competed. This work's major theme was to understand how an aging population necessitated the changes and implementations listed above — to understand better how automotive final assembly plants incorporated aging populations into its regular rotation of skilled laborers.

However, an underlying theme of this work also focused on the idea that training was salient as a result of the organic nature of human resources with the demographic makeup of the workforce ever-changing; and the need to ensure that the firm was able to meet the needs of its ever-diversifying population of skilled laborers was just as important.

Dankbaar (1996) investigated the impending needs of automotive workforce training in the European Union. Dankbaar argued that automotive training would not be a one-time event but rather something that firms would have to continuously visit in an ever-evolving global economy and landscape to ensure its workers were adequately prepared to effectuate their tasks. His work also found that firms would be required to eliminate processes by which employees were trained solely on one task, ultimately moving toward increased job rotation for final assembly line workers. Dankbaar's work concluded that training would be necessary at all stages of employment. Training, according to Dankbaar, would not be something that one engaged in solely prior to employment with the firm, or even as an off-the-clock activity after beginning employment (examples include apprenticeships), but would also need to take place literally while working in one's capacity on the final assembly line. Dankbaar's work did not, however, provide insight into how training would be implemented on the final assembly lines. Neither did this work expressly state how knowledge gaps would be addressed between employees. Dankbaar's work sought to encourage more egalitarian practices on the final assembly line so that workers would feel empowered to make process changes, creating a more cooperative workplace that encouraged shared governance and increased productivity and efficiency, and safety.

In 1997, Cooney authored a piece that described the Australian government's efforts to reform training in its automotive industry. Cooney's (1997) work indicated that Australian final assembly line workers would need to undergo more effective training to better meet the needs to compete in a global automotive economy. Cooney's findings were that skills audits, access to training, time off to attend training, and provisions for entry-level training were areas in which the Australian government agreed to focus training reform in the industry. The argument that Cooney made was that workforce training was overwhelmingly responsible for workplace change. This work also found that skills-related training was not the only type of training that would aid in final assembly line workers' success, but that there also needed to be training that focused on cooperation and teamwork, occupational health, quality control, waste management, and other areas (Cooney, 1997).

Several years after his 1997 work, Cooney (2010) authored another piece centered around manufacturing practices and training in the Australian automotive industry, focusing on how the industry was not as well-regulated as other industries. Cooney's work highlighted some of the challenges of incorporating vocational education training (VET) at the national level. Of those challenges, Cooney found that firms like Toyota and Ford, for example, operated differently in the ways that they produced automobiles and the variety in which they produced vehicles for customers. For instance, Cooney (2010) found that Ford allowed more significant product variability within its Australian market than Toyota. As such, Ford allowed for more autonomy of its workers to ensure they were able to meet the needs of their customers. This increased autonomy created a training challenge if the goal was to implement national standards for VET

that aimed to increase the productivity of that industry and the competitiveness of the Australian automotive manufacturing industry.

Hermawati et al. (2015) examined how game-based training might be used to provide future implementations of virtual training in the automotive industry. They first sought to understand how history had informed the training practices within the automotive industry (Hermawati et al., 2015). Not limiting their inquiry to the automotive industry, Hermwati et al. sought knowledge from other manufacturing sectors that faced similar challenges. Citing the expensive nature of automotive training for final assembly line workers, Hermawati et al. found ways that would potentially reduce those expenses by effectively eliminating the need to build preproduction units that would regularly and continuously be torn down and rebuilt so that final assembly line workers could train for the final production run. Hermawati et al. indicated that this method of training was ineffective, as only a small number of employees were able to actively participate in the training as a result of the small number of preproduction practice vehicles (Hermawati et al., 2015). By introducing virtual training models, Hermawati et al. concluded that more final assembly line workers could access training without as much waste involved as would have been the case using physical preproduction units. Their work further laid claim to the idea that, while game-based virtual training would be an aid in training final assembly line workers, it would not be the sole source of training and that final assembly line workers would best be served by undergoing current training methods (using preproduction vehicles) in conjunction with game-based virtual training (Hermawati et al., 2015).

Similar to Hermawati et al. (2015), Gorecky et al. (2015) sought to highlight the usefulness of virtual training compared to traditional types of training that employ limited

numbers of preproduction units and traditional computer-simulated technologies. Their work largely centered on providing the audience with a brief history of how technological advancements had been introduced and implemented throughout the manufacturing industry while simultaneously speaking to the belief that the automotive industry viewed people as the most flexible component of the final assembly process of cars, even when coupled with automated processes (Gorecky et al., 2015). Unlike Hermawati et al. (2014), Gorecky et al., (2015) placed greater emphasis on understanding how previously used technological training methods had historically informed other industries within the larger manufacturing context, and not solely the automotive manufacturing industry. Like Hermawati et al. (2014), Gorecky et al. (2015) argued that training would need to be comprehensive in its approach by using both existing training methods and virtual training methods that aid in the production ramp-up and continuing production practice improvements.

While various sources describe the challenges and opportunities within the automotive manufacturing industry, most of these works centered around Asian, Australian, and European final assembly plants. Aside from some works in the latter part of the twentieth century, very little was found that focused on the automotive manufacturing industry within the United States of America. This was true despite having a significant automotive presence of both domestic and import brands alike. The Southeast alone is host to Bavarian Motor Works (BMW) and Volvo in South Carolina; Nissan and Volkswagen in Tennessee; Kia in Georgia; Honda, Hyundai, and Mercedes-Benz in Alabama; and Nissan and Toyota in Mississippi with plans and construction of other facilities in the south to be used by Toyota and Mazda. There is a noticeable gap in the

research and literature when it comes to fully understanding the scope and breadth of automotive manufacturing in the United States.

There appeared to be at least two significant changes set to affect the global automotive industry — a shift from internal combustion engine (ICE) to hybridization and electrification of cars, and the move from the expectation and historical practice of the car being in total control by a driver toward autonomy. Both of these precipitous shifts within the industry were ripe with contention as detractors of the change lodged complaints against the electrification of cars and autonomous cars (Manjoo, 2021, Madrigal, 2018). There is an additional change within the industry that has caused major marques like Ford Motor Company and General Motors to abandon passenger cars in the United States — focusing solely on passenger trucks like the best-selling F-Series line of trucks and utility vehicles like Explorer, Expedition, Escape, and others (Tully, 2020). Changes in who drives vehicles are also one of the most significant shifts in automobiles since Henry Ford's Model T.

As manufacturers rush to perfect their fully autonomous vehicles, they simultaneously run into roadblocks with different government agencies worldwide, as the views on who is considered a driver, who will be held responsible if a semiautonomous or autonomous car causes a crash. One such example of this disparate view in advancing autonomous and semiautonomous cars was Honda rolling out a level-3 autonomous car in its home market Japan in 2021 (Sugiura, 2021), while Volkswagen Group's Audi had a level-3 capable car in the global market beginning in 2017, but had yet to enable its level-3 semiautonomous features because of differing government hurdles across the globe (Hetzner, 2020) and has canceled plans to activate its level-3 functioning as a result of the widely varied policies governing semiautonomous cars. The

decade leading up to the 2020s saw several tech companies attempt to work toward autonomous vehicles, all with varying degrees of success. States like California, Nevada, and Arizona have been testing driverless cars for years. The joint venture between Hyundai Motor Company and Aptiv, AKA Motional, claims to have been the first successful driverless autonomous car without a backup pilot or human to be at the helm should things go awry (Iagnemma, 2021).

I recognize that many of the challenges related to mechanical issues with autonomous cars might be faced by the consumer rather than the manufacturer or the service departments that maintain and repair them; but, autonomous cars will dramatically shape how manufacturers do business. Perhaps the change within the industry that will require different types of training will shift toward alternatively fueled vehicles (electric cars, hydrogen-powered cars, et cetera). There tend to be many individuals and organizations that predicted the onset of significant shifts within the automotive industry. Many of these shifts focused on electric vehicles and autonomous/ semiautonomous vehicles (Toensmeier, 2020). Moreover, while manufacturers like Volkswagen Auto Group have committed to expanding their electric vehicle production, firms are still committed to producing internal combustion engines (ICE) so that they produce the power and performance that consumers demand while simultaneously meeting evermore strict government regulations on efficiency and emission production (Toensmeier, 2020).

## **Job Performance and Self-Efficacy**

One of the hypotheses held in this study was that individuals who scored higher self-efficacy ratings would be assessed to have higher job performance ratings. This hypothesis was based on Stajkovic and Luthans (1998), which found that self-efficacy was positively correlated with job performance in lower-complexity tasks. This was also one of the findings of Cherian

and Jacob, which observed that individuals' self-efficacy scores positively correlated to their job performance and motivation (2013). The positive correlations between self-efficacy and job performance were also found in Chae and Park (2020).

Similar to my belief that self-efficacy would be positively correlated with job performance, I also believed that individuals who had experienced higher levels of educational attainment would also score higher on self-efficacy assessments. According to Robbins et al. (2004), academic self-efficacy was positively correlated with students' academic performance and Grade Point Average (GPA). Later, Artino (2012) similarly found that academic self-efficacy was an indicator that predicted students' academic performance — that is, as self-efficacy scores rose, so did a student's academic performance or GPA. Looking within a different domain outside of education, Judge et al. (2007) found that, by conducting a meta-analysis of relevant literature on self-efficacy, self-efficacy was positively correlated with job performance. The more complex the task, the less self-efficacy correlated with actual job performance. This was very similar to findings by Stajkovic and Luthans' 1998 study. While all of the studies discussed affirmed my original notion that self-efficacy positively correlated with job performance — and by extension and a plethora of well-documented research on the topic of self-efficacy in educational contexts — all of these studies looked at job performance as measures assessed externally to the individual. This work attempted to assess job performance as a self-rated measure in the context of automobile manufacturing.

### Self-Efficacy

Albert Bandura's 1977 work surrounding self-efficacy, and by extension, social-cognitive theory has been instrumental in educators' abilities to promote success in the classroom. Self-

efficacy, loosely put, is the belief in one's ability to effectuate a set of actions or behaviors to complete a task or meet expectations (Bandura, 1977, 1986). Self-efficacy and other behavioral trends started to take shape in the late 1970s and early 1980s as organizational psychologists were looking to positively affect workers' motivation, productivity, and overall performance (Eden & Aviram, 1993). There have been arguments that self-efficacy is salient for individuals who exhibit higher ambitions because it "helps to increase the probability of performing a difficult action and increases the effort and persistence to pursue this action" (Speier and Frese, 1997, p. 174). It is important to note that self-efficacy is often considered domain-specific — that is self-efficacy is affected by the activity or the sphere in which it attempts to measure, although there are attempts to assess self-efficacy more generally (Artino, 2012). Another point critical to the understanding of self-efficacy is that self-report instruments often measure it; and, research suggests that individuals typically overestimate their abilities to effectuate or complete a new task based on their self-efficacy scores (Artino, 2012). In their 1993 piece, Eden and Aviram studied individuals who were chronically unemployed, as research suggested that unemployment is negatively correlated with self-efficacy. Eden and Aviram found that behavioral modeling workshops significantly impacted participants' general self-efficacy and the activities that led to increased performance.

According to Betz and Klein (1996), domain-specific measures of self-efficacy are likely to contribute to an individual's generalized self-efficacy. In their work, they discussed the different types of measurements of which Bandura's seminal works in the field provide a basis. For instance, self-efficacy is often mentioned with another construct such as self-esteem, which they described as an "affective evaluation of self-worth" (Bets & Klein, 1996, p. 286). Chen et

al. describe self-esteem as an affective construct, as had Betz and Klein's (1996) work. Judge et al. likened self-esteem to one's "self-acceptance, self-liking, and self-respect" (1998, p. 169). In Hajloo's (2014) findings from their work, *Relationships Between Self-Efficacy, Self-Esteem, and Procrastination in Undergraduate Psychology Students*, self-efficacy was said to predict self-esteem; and that self-esteem was a better predictor of problem-solving solutions versus self-efficacy. In essence, the difference in the two constructs comes down to one being task-oriented (self-efficacy) while the other is a generalized belief and confidence in one's self (self-esteem); one is motivational (self-efficacy), and one is affective (self-esteem) (Chen et al., 2004). In their 1998 study that looked at the ways in which self-efficacy and self-esteem were both the same while also being different, Gardner and Pierce argued that those who held the perceptions that they were "capable, significant, successful, and worthy" (a measurement of global self-esteem) were also likely to exhibit higher task success (high self-efficacy) (p. 2). Their findings go so far as to say that organizations should seek to employ individuals who have both high general self-efficacy and high global self-esteem (Garner & Pierce, 1998).

Özdemir et al. (2021) found that self-efficacy scores were positively correlated with students' abstract thinking skills, both of which positively correlated with their perceptions and attitudes toward mathematics. Their work looked at the attitudes and perceptions of 198 randomly-sampled eighth-grade Turkish students to determine whether their self-efficacy scores, as assessed by the Self-Efficacy Perception Scale Towards Mathematics, were correlated with their abstract thinking skills (assessed by the Abstract Thinking Test in Mathematics instrument) (Özdemir et al., 2021).

In 2021, Downes et al. found that social comparison in work settings where there were higher-performing workers caused the self-efficacy of observers (colleagues) to be reduced. Their argument, which was ultimately supported by their findings, was that job performance was affected by one's self-efficacy and the observation of higher and lower performers within their contexts. In addition, they stated that measures of job performance in isolation were less informative to the individuals receiving the evaluations than those in which performance was given in the context of others (Downes et al., 2021). However, another challenge in providing the feedback arose when providing contextual feedback to individuals who were lower performers were being compared to their higher-performing peers. In this situation, workers' observed self-efficacy was diminished (Downes et al., 2021).

Based on the literature, we can make assumptions about the ways in which self-efficacy is related to while simultaneously being different from other constructs such as job performance and self-esteem. The literature suggested that improving general self-efficacy could positively impact individuals' performance and attitudes concerning their work, academic abilities, and future successes. So much of the work surrounding self-efficacy has to do with self-efficacy in the academic sphere and self-efficacy in the health sphere (both practitioners and patients). While there had been work that looked at self-efficacy in other contexts, such as on the job, very little had been considered outside of these scopes. In this work, I was specifically concerned with how self-efficacy was potentially associated with self-reported measures of job performance in manufacturing and automobile manufacturing facilities. For instance, one study found that self-efficacy and job performance were positively correlated (Cherian & Jacob, 2013). Other studies, however, concluded that self-efficacy was able to predict job performance in low-complexity

tasks but failed to predict job performance in medium to high-complexity tasks (Speier & Frese, 1997; Judge et al., 2007).

# Job Performance

The literature suggests that there are multiple ways in which job performance is measured and assessed and that there are multiple influences on job performance, regardless of how it is measured. "Job performance is a construct that comprises behaviors under workers' control that contribute to organizational goals" (Ramos-Villagrasa et al., 2019, p.197). Job performance measures and performance evaluations tend to be universally viewed as a consequence of employment akin to a normal function of one's job responsibilities. The question is whether there is sufficient buy-in regarding job performance and whether the players (both the assessed and assessors) understand the importance of conducting regular job performance reviews (Adler et al., 2016). In their work, Adler et al. argued that the performance management process needed overhauling, as managers were often viewed as finding little value in the process. At the same time, employers felt the spirit of the process was "frustrating, too bureaucratic, and often not relevant to their jobs" (2016, p. 221). Measuring workers' job performance is critical, as it theoretically leads to increased performance and productivity in situations where the performance evaluations are followed-up with meaningful training and education that lead to changed behaviors (Adler et al., 2016).

A study conducted in The Netherlands by van de Brake et al. (2020) found that membership in information-sharing networks had indirect effects on individual job performance. In that study, individual job performance was measured by the supervisors who were required to maintain relatively frequent data on performance metrics (van de Brake et al., 2020). The more

frequent and intense individuals' engagements with their information-sharing networks were, the lower their job performance as measured by their direct supervisors. The less frequent those interactions with their information-sharing networks, the more positive their job performance was (van de Brake et al., 2020).

Much like Carlos and Rodrigues, measurements of job performance have plagued organizations and social scientists who wish to affect workers in ways that increase their performance. Across the literature, one of the biggest challenges has been creating instruments that are specific enough to accurately assess individual job performance while also being general enough to encompass multiple job-related contexts. One of the other challenges with measuring job performance is the variability of raters or issues of inter-rater reliability (Ramos-Villagrasa et al., 2019).

One of the other challenges researchers who employ self-report instruments in research face is that of faking, whereas individuals do not want to rate themselves as poor performers or as having "poor work habits" (Judge et al., 1998). An example of faking is that respondents will rate themselves to appear more favorably to observers or their managers and supervisors despite anonymity in many cases. Similarly, Judge et al. found that the accuracy of individuals' self-concept might pose a challenge to the measurements taken by the self-report instruments.

However, Ramos-Villagrasa et al. (2019) argued that self-report instruments are beneficial in contexts where measures are hard to obtain, citing high-complexity jobs as the prime example. Similarly, self-report instruments are beneficial, as the worker, in theory, is familiar with all of their actions and outcomes versus a supervisor, manager, or peer who might only observe part of workers' actions (Ramos-Villagrasa et al., 2019). In addition, Ramos-Villagrasa et al. also stated

that attitudes and perceptions of subordinates or colleagues often shape raters' perceptions about workers' job performance.

Some of the issues that have previously plagued researchers were how to measure job performance and even who measured job performance. Job performance was commonly a measure attributed to a worker after observation of that worker — that is, the score was given absent of feedback or input from the employee, as the employee's manager or supervisor provided the performance metric for the employee (Woehr, 2015). One of the challenges with rating job performance was the inconsistency (lack of consistency) between raters (Ramos-Villagrasa et al., 2019). One way this could be addressed would be to employ multi-rater performance metrics versus relying solely on one or another (Beausaert et al., 2013). Another challenge, according to Ramos-Villagrasa et al., was caused by jobs that required different abilities and outcomes from their workers. Some examples of who include the obvious supervisor or manager or colleagues and peers. Less obvious examples of those who measure performance include the workers themselves and those who answer directly to them (Cho et al., 2021).

Cho et al. (2021) have asserted that job performance has been a challenging topic to address because of how and who measures it. Cho et al. argued that job performance measured by leadership was often predicted by the humbleness of those leaders. In Ramos-Villagrasa et al's. study, they found a challenge with measures of job performance — current, off-the-shelf job performance scales were too job-specific and relied too much on leadership to be completed.

When discussing job performance metrics and how they were attributed to workers, other researchers stated that using specific job performance assessments was counterproductive when

attempting to assess general behavior (Judge and Kammeyer-Mueller, 2012). Deng et al. investigated the correlations between different types of stress and job performance, finding that higher levels of hindrance stress (stress that essentially got in the way of job growth, upward mobility) negatively affected self-reported measures of job performance (2019). On the other hand, challenge stress (stress that encourages growth and professional development) was positively correlated with job performance (Deng et al., 2019).

Downes et al.'s. work was cited earlier, as it focused on the constructs of job performance and self-efficacy. In that study, their hypothesis that individuals with higher performance prove goal orientation (PPGO) levels would actually have job performance measures that were less than their peers who had lower levels of PPGO after observing higher-performing peers. These studies have illustrated that job performance is a highly nuanced construct involving different attitudes, values, and beliefs while simultaneously integrating the organization and leadership goals where these measures are generally most salient. On the one hand, job performance has been used to influence and advance organizational goals while simultaneously being used to determine merit and compensation packages for those who receive the highest ratings. On the other hand, job performance has become a necessary part of the bureaucratic process that provides little benefit and support to those receiving the feedback, mainly when the evaluations come from managers who are not trained in observing behaviors or analyzing data meant to inform the evaluation process (Ramos-Villagrasa et al., 2019).

Job performance measures have plagued researchers for many of the reasons mentioned above (inter-rater reliability issues, varying job functions and industries, and whether assessments were self-administered or done by an external body other than the individual on

whom the assessment would have ultimately provided feedback), and one of the challenges was that inter-rater reliability caused concern about the overall instrument reliability (Woehr, 2015).

# **Summary**

In this chapter, I sought to highlight the overall framework by which I would conduct this study and provide context to understand the space which this work attempted to occupy. The overall tenants of this research — to understand how self-efficacy and self-reported measures of job performance in automobile final assembly plants located in the Southeast — are missing from the literature. The automotive industry is a complex one on which so much of the American economy and job market rely; and, while there are manufacturers and government agencies that attempt to prepare their workforces for the skill required for manufacturing roles within the industry, there was not a lot, from what I had been able to ascertain in my review of the literature, of research that focused on these two areas: self-efficacy and self-reported measures of job performance in automobile manufacturing.

The sources in this chapter highlight the various areas that impact the interests that motivated an understanding of the automobile manufacturing industry, its impact on the national job market and overall economy, how individuals are trained within these spaces, how individuals perceive their job performance, and how individual self-efficacy can be used to predict outcomes. The individual manufacturers of automobiles are regularly assessed on their overall effectiveness based on market share, measures of reliability & dependability, costs of ownership, resale values, and safety ratings (J.D. Power, Consumer Reports, KBB, IIHS, NCAP/NHTSA). However, the industry is tight-lipped about the performance of its workers. The gaps in the literature are significant, as there was no research discovered that mentions the effects of

self-efficacy on job performance in the automobile manufacturing industry. These omissions in the literature are what this project will seek to fill, with subsequent works expanding upon it.

#### **CHAPTER III**

#### **METHODS**

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between Southeastern United States automobile final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores. In addition, I sought to determine whether there were significant differences in job performance and self-efficacy based on the facilities where respondents were employed, what respondents' job functions were, what respondents' levels of educational attainment were, and respondents' race and ethnicity. Next, I wanted to assess the relationship between participant age and the two dependent variables: job performance and self-efficacy.

In addition to using manufacturing facility and job function as pseudo-independent variables, I used education level as a pseudo-independent variable because research suggested that job performance was positively correlated with education (Wulandari, 2017). For self-efficacy, Hayat et al. (2020) suggested that individuals with higher self-efficacy were more motivated to persist through challenging problems in their academic endeavors, study longer, and exhaust other options and alternatives before giving up on an academic task. Their findings encouraged me to look at education level to assess whether there were significant relationships between the two dependent variables: job performance and self-efficacy. In addition, some researchers have found that race and ethnicity were associated with job performance measures (Hausdorf & Robie, 2018). Because of their findings, I used race and ethnicity as a pseudo-independent variable to investigate group differences in the dependent variables of job performance and self-efficacy.

## **Research Questions**

I used the following research questions to guide me in this study:

**Research Question 1:** Was there an association between final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores?

**Research Question 2:** Was there an association between final assembly workers' age and self-reported measures of job performance, or between final assembly workers' age and self-efficacy scores?

**Research Question 3:** Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on race or ethnicity?

**Research Question 4:** Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on educational attainment?

**Research Question 5:** Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on the facilities where they were employed?

**Research Question 6:** Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on job function?

#### **Participants**

I recruited participants for this study from a sample of individuals who worked in final and general assembly roles in the Southeastern United States in automobile manufacturing facilities. The manufacturing facilities included in the Southeastern United States are those located in Alabama, Georgia, Kentucky, Mississippi, South Carolina, and Tennessee. To be eligible for participation in this study, individuals needed to be at least 18 years of age and

employed with one of the automobile manufacturing facilities located in one of the states listed above as final or general assembly workers. In addition, individuals had to be employed in their roles for at least three months at survey completion. I incentivized participation by allowing entry into a drawing for one of five \$50.00 Amazon gift cards.

There were 1,117 participants who started the survey; however, one opted out of participation, and 52 did not complete the survey. I excluded individuals who worked for suppliers from participating in this research study. I excluded 11 individuals from participation due to their employment at a facility that did not perform final assembly or because they listed working at a facility outside of the Southeastern United States. Hyundai and Auburn SCA are examples of facilities that respondents listed as their employers that do not engage in the final assembly. There were also respondents who were employed at Ford facilities in Dearborn, Michigan, and Kansas City, Missouri, whom I excluded from the study. The respondents from the Michigan and Missouri facilities were previously counted in the 11 individuals that were excluded from the final sample.

Similarly, I excluded respondents who worked in other job functions not pursuant to the final assembly from participation in this research study. There were ten responses excluded due to not working in one of the included job functions (for example, parts director). Lastly, I excluded three additional responses from the final analysis due to the small sample size they represented (two responses from the Ford Kentucky Truck Plant and one response for Toyota Motor Manufacturing of Kentucky). As a result, 1,041 individuals were included in the final analyses.

To assess whether there were significant differences in job performance or self-efficacy, the age of each participant at the time of the study was collected. The average age of all

participants was 30.70 (SD = 5.94). The race and ethnicity groups here were selected to be uniform with how the U.S. Census Bureau collected data on race and ethnicity. I conducted a chi-square goodness-of-fit test to determine if participants in the study had the same racial and ethnic makeup as the general U.S. population as assessed by the U.S. Census Bureau (2021). The chi-square goodness-of-fit test indicated that the six racial and ethnic groups represented in the study were not similarly distributed as those within the general population or that they significantly deviated from the population distribution ( $\chi^2$  (2) = 26,880.16, p < .001). The racial and ethnic breakdown of the study participants is represented in Table 1.

**Table 1**Participants by Race and Ethnicity

Race and Ethnicity	Frequency	Percent	National Percentage of Population
American Indian/Alaska Native	211	20	1
Asian	71	7	6
Black or African American	119	11	13
Latino or Hispanic	55	5	19
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	65	6	< 1
White	517	50	60
Total	1038	100	~100

## **Instruments**

To determine the basic demographic information of participants, I created questions that asked respondents to type their age in years, to select the facility where they were employed, to type their employment start date, to select their job function, and to select the choice that

represented their highest level of education. All four levels of education were represented in this study, and distribution of participants by level of educational attainment can be found in Table 2.

**Table 2**Participants by Education Level

Education Level	Frequency	Percent
Some High School/Less Than High School Diploma	74	7
High School Graduate/No College	390	37
Some College or Associate's Degree	393	38
Bachelor's Degree and Higher	184	18
Total	1041	100

I also sought to understand how final assembly workers rated their performance while on the job. To determine this, I searched the literature to identify instruments that had been previously developed for job performance measures. Specifically, I found it necessary to find a self-reported measure of job performance, as I sought to understand how individuals viewed their performance. This study then sought to understand how one's self-efficacy score, as determined by using the New General Self-Efficacy instrument developed by Chen et al. (2001), was associated with their job performance rating as determined by the Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance instrument developed by Carlos and Rodrigues (2016).

# New General Self-Efficacy Instrument

To determine participants' self-efficacy scores, I used the New General Self-Efficacy assessment developed by Chen et al. (2001). The New General Self-Efficacy instrument is an 8-item assessment that allows test-takers the ability to self-select and self-score their self-efficacy

ratings. The New General Self-Efficacy instrument is considered different from other instruments that assess self-efficacy because it is unidimensional versus earlier instruments that focused on self-efficacy, self-confidence, and other constructs (Chen et al., 2001).

I assessed the New General Self-Efficacy instrument to be beneficial because it allowed final assembly workers to respond to statements on which they could select from a 7-point Likert-type scale from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree." I should note that the New General Self-Efficacy instrument was originally scaled on a 5-point Likert-type scale but was changed to provide consistency in scoring for participants who were tasked with completing the survey that used two instruments as the second instrument (explained in the next section) employed a 7-point scale.

Chen et al. (2001) found that the New General Self-Efficacy instrument yielded internal consistency with an alpha level ( $\alpha$ ) of .86 during their validation of the assessment. The New General Self-Efficacy scores, across the three time periods within a single study conducted during its validation, remained internally consistent and yielded acceptable alpha levels ( $\alpha$  = .87,  $\alpha$  = .88, and  $\alpha$  = .85). Similarly, content validity was high as assessed during the validation of the measure by eight industrial and organizational psychology students and fourteen undergraduate psychology students. The graduate students assessed that 98% of the New General Self-Efficacy instrument items were measures of general self-efficacy, with the other 2% of items measures of self-esteem. The undergraduate students assessed that 87% of the New General Self-Efficacy items measures general self-efficacy, with 11% measuring self-esteem and 3% measuring some other construct. The New General Self-Efficacy was initially rated on a 5-point Likert-type scale (Chen et al., 2001). However, to allow consistency with the larger Self-Reported Measures of Job Performance instrument, I changed the scale to a 7-point Likert-type version. The eight-item self-

efficacy instrument displayed a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of .899 in the present study, indicating a high level of reliability.

## Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance Instrument

To understand how participants viewed their performance on the job, I used the Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance instrument. The Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance instrument by Carlos and Rodrigues (2016) was designed to report performance measures of different domains or dimensions that one might face within a work context. The researchers' goals were to design a self-reported measure of job performance and develop an instrument that could be used across different domains and industries. The Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance instrument was also developed to be applicable in several global regions and across a number of cultures. Carlos and Rodrigues found that it exhibited good psychometric properties in the validation of the instrument. They reported a Cronbach's alpha of .749 for the 29-item scale.

There were seven domains in which the Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance instrument sought to assess participants' job performance. These included job knowledge, organizational skills, efficiency, persistent effort, cooperation, organizational conscientiousness, and interpersonal and relational skills (Carlos & Rodrigues, 2016). The Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance scores had an internal reliability that was deemed acceptable with a Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient of .780 in the present study.

#### **Procedures**

I was granted approval from Auburn University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) on February 17, 2021. Upon receiving IRB approval, I began to engage existing social media connections on Facebook, LinkedIn, and Instagram to ask for participation in the study. In

addition, I sent emails to colleagues, family, and friends to explain the research goals, who was targeted for participation in the research, and to ask for assistance in administering the research to those interested in participating.

I employed additional recruitment methods, including sending recruitment items to

Auburn University colleagues who had professional ties to the manufacturing facilities. I also

emailed professional list-servers (LISTSERV), asking anyone who had associates, family, or

friends who worked at any of the facilities to share recruitment materials and to share my contact
information.

Other participant recruitment strategies included running a Facebook and Instagram advertisement for 10 days. Using the Facebook and Instagram advertising platforms, I targeted individuals located within 25-miles of the following areas: Montgomery, Alabama; Lincoln, Alabama; Vance, Alabama; Tuscaloosa, Alabama; Huntsville, Alabama; West Point, Georgia; Bowling Green, Kentucky, Georgetown, Kentucky; Louisville, Kentucky; Blue Springs, Mississippi; Canton, Mississippi; Charleston, South Carolina, Spartanburg, South Carolina; Chattanooga, Tennessee; and Smyrna, Tennessee. The advertisements were targeted to be visible on profiles of individuals who worked for one of the manufacturers that were included in this study. Through the Facebook and Instagram advertisement channels, I reached approximately 1,400 individuals, resulting in about 50 clicks.

#### **Data Collection**

I collected data using Qualtrics. Because a waiver of signed documentation of consent was granted by Auburn University's Institutional Review Board (IRB), the first part of the survey started with an information letter that described the research goals, provided participants with contact information, and explained how the information would be used and the impact (risk)

taking the survey might have on them. Before beginning the survey, participants were given the option to select into participation or select out of participation in the study.

Participants that agreed to continue with the study were then asked demographic questions about their age, race and ethnicity, level of educational attainment, the automobile manufacturing facility at which they were employed, their job function (engine/drivetrain assembly, paint and finish, internal installation, et cetera), and employment start date. Once that information was collected from the participant, they were then led through the rest of the Qualtrics survey that combined items from the New General Self Efficacy Instrument by Chen et al. (2001) and the Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance (SRMJP) by Carlos and Rodrigues (2016).

I made the Qualtrics survey so that all responses were required to avoid issues with missing or incomplete data. Data were collected through this medium over the course of 8 weeks (from February 11, 2021, through April 9, 2021). Ninety-eight percent of all participants represented six facilities located in Alabama, Georgia, and South Carolina. Together, these facilities were the employer of over 25,000 individuals at all levels of the organizations. Participants by their manufacturing facilities can be found in Table 3.

 Table 3

 Participants by Manufacturing Facility

Facility	Frequency	Percent
BMW (Spartanburg, South Carolina)	230	22
Honda (Lincoln, Alabama)	228	22
Hyundai (Montgomery, Alabama)	240	23
Kia (West Point, Georgia)	167	16
Mercedes-Benz (Vance, Alabama)	118	11
Volvo (Charleston, South Carolina)	58	6
Total	1041	100

Once data were collected, they were downloaded from my Qualtrics account and imported into IBM SPSS Statistics version 27. Data cleaning ensured that only individuals who completed the survey and who met the targeted audience requirements were included in the data analysis. I categorized participants based on their reported job functions. Job function breakdowns are listed in Table 4.

**Table 4**Participants by Job Function

Job Function	Frequency	Percent
Body & Chassis	135	13
Engine & Drivetrain Assembly	195	19
Interior Assembly & Installation	209	20
Paint & Finish	193	19
Plastics Injection & Molding	109	10
Quality Control & Testing	119	11
Steel/Aluminum/Iron Stamping/Forging	44	4
Welding	37	4
Total	1041	100

## **Analytic Approach**

In this study, I used multiple one-way Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) tests to compare independent variable's pseudo-independent variable group means across multiple dependent variables and to assess whether both variables, together, were associated with the changes in a) the facilities where respondents were employed, b) respondents' job functions, c) respondent's levels of educational attainment or d) their race and ethnicity (Pituch & Stevens, 2016). The MANOVA requires that each pseudo-independent variable have multiple levels. To be the most consistent with other bodies of research that used demographic information such as educational attainment level and race and ethnicity, I categorized the educational attainment groups in the same way that they were previously categorized and used by the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics or US BLS (2020). I also categorized the race and ethnicity variable in

the same way that another federal agency previously categorized it. It included the following choices or responses available: a) American Indian or Alaska Native, b) Asian, c) Black, d)

Hispanic, e) Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, (f) white, or (g) more than one race. The independent variable age is interval; and, I conducted a Pearson correlation coefficient to identify any potential relationships between age and the dependent variables job performance and self-efficacy. I performed a second Pearson correlation coefficient to look for correlations between the dependent variables, job performance, and self-efficacy. Following the Pearson correlation coefficient analyses, I performed four multivariate analyses of variance procedures to look for significant differences in the dependent variables based on the pseudo-independent variables within the race and ethnicity, level of educational attainment, manufacturing facility, and job function.

I used SPSS to code and analyze participant responses. To do so, I downloaded and exported participant responses from my Qualtrics account, then imported the responses into the SPSS program. Once the import was complete, the process of coding responses and calculating both the self-efficacy scores and job performance ratings was done. This was done by using the original instrument and using the "compute" function under the "transform" dropdown menu in SPSS to calculate the Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance rating using the 29 items. I made careful consideration to ensure that the reverse-scored items in the job-performance instrument within the survey (of which there were 8) were appropriately and accurately accounted for in the scoring of responses. To do so, I used the "recode into different variables" function under the "transform" menu to reverse-code the 8-items that were reverse-scored.

#### **Data Analysis**

Data were analyzed in SPSS after initial checks for completeness of responses and appropriateness of participants (correct type of facility, length of time at employer, etc.) were completed within Microsoft Excel. Calculations of both participants' New General Self-Efficacy scores and their Self-Reported Measures of Job Performance ratings were completed within SPSS. Both instruments required taking the average of all items within (8 items for the New General Self-Efficacy instrument and all 29 across the seven domains in the Self-Reported Measures of Job Performance instrument) to calculate their respective scores. Part of the analysis also involved coding each variable in SPSS measured as nominal or ordinal, as SPSS requires that variables be coded into "dummy variables." In this research, the educational attainment level variables were coded as 1 = less than a high school diploma, 2 = high school graduate; no college, 3 = some college or associates degree, 4 = bachelor's degree or higher. The race/ ethnicity variable was coded as 1 = American Indian or Alaska Native, 2 = Asian, 3 = Black or African American, 4 = Hispanic, 5 = Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, 6 = white, 7 = More than one race. Age was collected as an interval variable and ultimately kept as such for reporting purposes. After coding, descriptive statistics were calculated for the sample size.

#### **CHAPTER IV**

#### RESULTS

The purpose of this study was to determine whether there were statistically significant differences in job performance and self-efficacy based on the the different manufacturing facilities where final assembly workers were employed. I was able to quantify respondents' feelings toward their job performance by collecting data using Carlos & Rodrigues' (2016) self-reported measure of job performance instrument. I was able to quantify respondents' beliefs in their abilities to learn new information and employ that information to effectuate new and more complex tasks by using Chen et al's., New General Self-Efficacy instrument (2001). I used IBM SPSS version 27 to analyze these collected data. SPSS allowed me to generate descriptive statistics, conduct one-way MANOVA analyses and one-way ANOVA analyses. It also allowed me to conduct a Pearson correlation coefficient to determine if age was associated with either job performance or self-efficacy.

### **Research Questions**

The research questions and associated hypotheses for this study included:

**Research Question 1:** Was there an association between final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores?

H<sub>0</sub>: There was no association between self-reported measures of job performance or self-efficacy scores.

H<sub>1</sub>: Self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores were associated.

**Research Question 2:** Was there an association between final assembly workers' age and self-reported measures of job performance, or between final assembly workers' age and self-efficacy scores?

H<sub>0</sub>: Age did not explain the variations in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance or their self-efficacy scores.

H<sub>1</sub>: Age explained the variations in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores.

**Research Question 3:** Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on race or ethnicity?

H<sub>0</sub>: There were no statistically significant differences in the self-reported measures of job performance or self-efficacy scores based on respondents' race or ethnicity.

H<sub>1</sub>: There were statistically significant differences in self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores based on respondents' race or ethnicity.

**Research Question 4:** Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on educational attainment?

H<sub>0</sub>: Educational levels showed no statistically significant differences in
 respondents' self-reported measures of job performance or self-efficacy scores.
 H<sub>1</sub>: Educational levels resulted in statistically significant differences in

respondents' self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores.

**Research Question 5:** Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on the facilities where they were employed?

H<sub>0</sub>: Self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores were not significantly different from manufacturing facility to manufacturing facility.
 H<sub>1</sub>: Self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores were significantly different from manufacturing facility to manufacturing facility.

**Research Question 6:** Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on job function?

H<sub>0</sub>: There were no significant differences in self-reported measures of job
performance or self-efficacy scores based on respondents' job functions.
H<sub>1</sub>: There were significant differences in self-reported measures of job
performance and self-efficacy scores based on respondents' job functions.

To test for univariate normality, I used SPSS to calculate both skewness and kurtosis for each dependent variable. Based on this initial test, univariate normality was not met on job performance (positive skew = .296, SE = .076, mesokurtosis = .130, SE = .151) nor self-efficacy (negative skew = -.171, SE = .076, platykurtosis = -.494, SE = .151). I ran both Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests for normality. Both tests indicated that the data were not univariate normal. A Kolmogorov-Smirnov test indicated that job performance did not follow a normal distribution (D(1041) = .045, p < .001). A Kolmogorov-Smirnov test also indicated that self-efficacy did not follow a normal distribution (D(1041) = .075, p < .001). A Shapiro-Wilk test for normality indicated that self-reported measures of job performance did not follow a normal

distribution (W(1041) = .988, p < .001). Similarly a Shapiro-Wilk test for normality indicated that self-efficacy did not follow a normal distribution, (W(1041) = .985, p < .001). Despite these data not being normally distributed, the violation of the assumption of normality was not a cause for concern nor did it cause problems in these data because of the large sample size (Oppong & Agbedra, 2016; Ghasemi & Zahediasl, 2012). The assumption of homogeneity of covariance matrices was not met ( $F_{18,858,743} = 2.717, p < .001$ ).

### **Research Question One**

Research Question 1: Was there an association between final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores?

To determine if there was an association between job performance and self-efficacy, I calculated a Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient. The Pearson correlation coefficient helped me understand the strength and direction of the association between the two dependent variables. Based on the Pearson correlation coefficient, there was a strong and positive correlation between the self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores ( $r = .818, r^2 = .668, p < .001$ ). This indicated that the self-reported measure of job performance shared about 67% of its variance with self-efficacy.

### **Research Question Two**

Research question 2: Was there an association between final assembly workers' age and self-reported measures of job performance, or between final assembly workers' age and self-efficacy scores?

To investigate the research question that asked if there was an association between final assembly workers' ages and their self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores, I calculated two Pearson Correlation coefficient tests for the pair of dependent variables.

Both tests resulted in non-significant differences indicating that age was not strongly associated with either self-reported measures of job performance (r = -.042, p = .172,  $r^2 = .002$ ) or self-efficacy scores (r = -.049, p = .115,  $r^2 = .002$ ).

#### **Research Question Three**

Research Question 3: Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on race or ethnicity?

I used a one-way MANOVA to determine if self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy were significantly different based on respondents' racial and ethnic identities. There was a significant difference in the self-reported job performance measure and self-efficacy based on respondents' race and ethnicity ( $\Lambda = .939$ ,  $F_{10,2062} = 6.54$ , p < .001). Approximately 6% of the variance in self-reported job performance and self-efficacy was explained by respondents' race and ethnicity ( $\omega^2 = .056$ ). To follow up on the significant multivariate test, I conducted two one-way ANOVAs. To control for familywise error, I used the Bonferroni adjustment setting studywise alpha at .025. The assumption of homogeneity of variance for self-reported job performance was not met, (p = .012). However, the assumption was met for self-efficacy, (p = .053). There was a significant difference in self-reported job performance based on respondents' race and ethnicity ( $F_{5,1032} = 10.518$ , P < .001) and in self-efficacy ( $F_{5,1032} = 10.964$ , P < .001). Approximately 4% of the variance in the self-reported job performance measurement was explained by respondents' race and ethnicity ( $\omega^2 = .044$ ). Approximately 5% of the variance in self-efficacy was explained by respondents' race and ethnicity ( $\omega^2 = .046$ ).

To follow up the significant one-way univariate tests, I used Tukey post-hoc tests.

Respondents who identified as white had a mean self-reported measure of job performance that

was significantly lower than those who identified as American Indian or Alaska Native (p < .001). Respondents who identified as white, however, had mean self-reported measures of job performance that were significantly higher than those who identified as Latino or Hispanic (p = .018). For those who identified as Black or African American, the mean self-reported measure of job performance was significantly lower than those who identified as American Indian or Alaska native (p = .001). Mean self-reported measures of job performance were significantly higher for those who identified their race as American Indian or Alaska Native compared to those who identified as Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander (p = .001). Similarly, those who identified as American Indian or Alaska Native had significantly higher mean self-reported measures of job performance ratings than their Latino or Hispanic counterparts (p < .001). Respondents who identified themselves as Asian had mean self-reported measures of job performance ratings that were significantly higher than those who identified themselves as Latino or Hispanic (p = .018).

Respondents who identified their race or ethnicity as white had self-efficacy scores that were significantly lower versus those who identified as American Indian or Alaska Native (p < .001). However, white respondents had significantly higher mean self-efficacy scores versus Latino or Hispanic respondents (p = .004). Respondents identifying as Black or African American had significantly lower mean self-efficacy scores compared to those who identified as American Indian or Alaska Native (p = .017). The Black or African American group of respondents had significantly higher self-efficacy scores compared to respondents who identified as Latino or Hispanic (p = .007). Self-efficacy was statistically higher for those who identified as American Indian or Alaska Native compared to those who identified as Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander (p < .001). The mean self-efficacy scores for the American Indian or Alaska Native group was significantly higher than those of the Latino or Hispanic respondents' mean

scores (p < .001). For respondents who identified as Asian, their self-efficacy scores were statistically higher from those who identified as Latino or Hispanic (p < .001). See Table 5 for descriptive statistics.

 Table 5

 Descriptive Statistics by Race/Identity and the Pair of Dependent Variables

Dependent Variable	Race or Ethnicity	M	SD	N
Job Performance	White	4.592	.455	517
	Black or African American	4.591	.501	119
	American Indian or Alaska Native	4.818	.577	211
	Asian	4.651	.473	71
	Native. Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	4.535	.514	65
	Latino or Hispanic	4.370	.426	55
	Total	4.627	.502	1038
Self-Efficacy	White	5.212	.880	517
	Black or African American	5.252	.952	119
	American Indian or Alaska Native	5.578	.893	211
	Asian	5.412	.731	71
	Native. Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	4.990	.870	65
	Latino or Hispanic	4.752	.951	55
	Total	5.266	.906	1038

The self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy appeared to be associated with respondents' race and ethnicity, as there was a significant difference in the pair of dependent variables (self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores) based

on respondents' race and ethnicity. In this study, the American Indian and Alaska Native sample was over-represented at 20% compared to the national population of American Indian or Alaska Native individuals which is 1%. Similarly, the underrepresentation Latino and Hispanic (5% in this study versus 19% nationally) population may not provide the best generalizability because the sample size was not representative of the larger national population (US Census Bureau, 2021).

### **Research Question Four**

Research Question 4: Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on educational attainment?

I used a one-way MANOVA to determine how educational attainment affected the outcome variables, and to determine if there was a significant difference in self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores based on respondents' levels of education. The MANOVA indicated there was a significant difference in job performance and self-efficacy based on respondents' levels of educational attainment ( $\Lambda$  = .955,  $F_{6,2072}$  = 7.989, p < .001). Approximately 9% of the variance in job performance and self-efficacy was explained by respondents' levels of educational attainment ( $\omega^2$  = .09). To follow up on the significant multivariate test, I used one-way ANOVAs. To control for familywise error, I used the Bonferroni adjustment, setting studywise alpha at .025. There was a significant difference in job performance ( $F_{3,1037}$  = 14.254, p < .001) and in self-efficacy ( $F_{3,1037}$  = 8.677, p < .001) based on respondents' levels of educational attainment. Approximately 4% of the variance in self-reported measures of job performance was explained by respondents' levels of educational attainment ( $\omega^2$ 

= .037). Approximately 2% of the variance in self-efficacy was explained by respondents' levels of educational attainment ( $\omega^2 = .022$ ).

I followed up the significant one-way univariate tests by using Tukey post-hoc tests. Self-reported measures of job performance was significantly lower for respondents who reported having less than a high school education than those who had a bachelor's degree (p = .006). Job performance was significantly lower for respondents who reported having a high school diploma versus those who reported having earned a bachelor's degree (p < .001). Job performance was significantly lower for respondents who reported having earned some college credit or having earned an associate's degree versus those with at least a bachelor's degree (p < .001).

High school graduates had self-efficacy scores that were significantly lower than respondents with a bachelor's degree or higher (p < .001). Similarly, self-efficacy was significantly lower for respondents who reported having earned some college credit or an associate's degree versus those with a bachelor's degree or higher (p < .001). See Table 6 for descriptive statistics.

Among the present sample, those with the highest and lowest levels of educational attainment reported both higher job performance ratings and self-efficacy scores. Those who had a high school diploma and those who had some college or an associate's degree had mean scores that were lower than both the bachelor's degree or higher group and the less than high school diploma group. The individuals who reported having less than a high school diploma had mean scores in both dependent variables that were lower than the mean score for all groups, but higher than the two middle groups.

Table 6

Dependent Variable	Education Level	M	SD	N
Job Performance	Some High School/Less Than High School Diploma	4.618	.457	74
	High School Graduate, No College	4.566	.497	390
	Some College or Associate's Degree	4.588	.484	393
	Bachelor's Degree or Higher	4.840	.515	184
	Total	4.627	.502	1041
Self-Efficacy	Some High School/Less Than High School Diploma	5.382	.829	74
	High School Graduate, No College	5.183	.929	390
	Some College or Associate's Degree	5.192	.913	393
	Bachelor's Degree or Higher	5.552	.811	184
	Total	5.266	.906	1041

Descriptive Statistics by Education Level and the Dependent Variables

### **Research Question Five**

Research Question 5: Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on the facilities where they were employed?

I used a one-way MANOVA to determine if self-reported job performance measures and self-efficacy scores significantly differed based on the manufacturing facility where respondents were employed. The one-way MANOVA indicated there was a significant difference in job performance and self-efficacy based on which manufacturing facility respondents were employed  $(\Lambda = .982, F_{10,2068} = 1.880, p = .043)$ . Slightly more than one-percent of the variance in job performance and self-efficacy was explained by the facility in which respondents were employed

 $(\omega^2 = .013)$ . To follow up on the significant multivariate test, I used one-way ANOVAs. To control for famislywise error, I used the Bonferonni adjustment, setting studywise alpha at .025. There was a significant difference in job performance  $(F_{5,1035} = 2.754, p = .018)$  and self-efficacy  $(F_{5,1035} = 3.058, p = .010)$ . Less than 1% of the variance in job performance was explained by which manufacturing facility a respondent was employed  $(\omega^2 - .008)$ . Approximately 1% of the variance in self-efficacy was explained by which manufacturing facility a respondent was employed  $(\omega^2 = .008)$ .

To follow up on the significant univariate tests, I used Tukey post-hot tests. Self-efficacy was significantly different in employees working at Honda who had higher mean self-efficacy scores than those working at Hyundai (p = .010). While both the multivariate test (MANOVA) and the univariate test (ANOVA) indicated statistically significant differences in job performance between the manufacturing facilities, the differences appear to have been too small for the Tukey post-hoc tests to detect at the pairwise level. While self-efficacy was lower for those who worked at Hyundai compared to those who work at Honda, job performance was not statistically different for any of the facilities in this study based on the studywise alpha having been set at .025. See Table 7 for descriptive statistics.

**Table 7**Descriptive Statistics by Manufacturing Facility and the Dependent Variables

Dependent Variable	Facility	M	SD	N
Job Performance	Honda Mfg of Alabama	4.677	.480	228
	Hyundai Motor Alabama	4.537	.477	240
	Kia Motor Mfg of Georgia	4.593	.523	167
	Mercedes-Benz US International	4.690	.543	118
	BMW Group Plant	4.649	.498	230
	Volvo - SC Factory	4.680	.519	58
	Total	4.627	.502	1041
Self-Efficacy	Honda Mfg of Alabama	5.377	.833	228
	Hyundai Motor Alabama	5.096	.939	240
	Kia Motor Mfg of Georgia	5.196	.924	167
	Mercedes-Benz US International	5.317	.885	118
	BMW Group Plant	5.342	.949	230
	Volvo - SC Factory	5.328	.767	58
	Total	5.266	.906	1041

## **Research Question Six**

Research Question 6: Were there statistically significant differences in final assembly workers' self-reported measures of job performance and their self-efficacy scores based on job function?

I used a one-way MANOVA to determine whether there were significant differences in job performance ratings and self-efficacy scores based on job-related functions. The one-way

MANOVA indicated there was a significant difference on the set of dependent variables (job performance and self-efficacy) based on respondents' job functions ( $\Lambda = .961, F_{14, 2064} = 2.928, p$  < .001). About 3% of the variance in the dependent variables was explained by which job function respondents held ( $\omega^2 = .032$ ). To follow up on the significant multivariate test, I used one-way ANOVAs. To control for familywise error, I used the Bonferroni adjustment, setting studywise alpha at .025. There was a significant difference in job performance ( $F_{7,1033} = 5.556, p$  < .001) and in self-efficacy ( $F_{7,1033} = 4.303, p$  < .001). About 3% of the variance in self-reported measures of job performance was explained by the facility where respondents were employed ( $\omega^2 = .030$ ). Approximately 2% of the variance in self-efficacy was explained by the facility where respondents were employed ( $\omega^2 = .032$ ).

I used Tukey post-hoc tests to follow up the significant univariate tests. Mean self-reported measures of job performance ratings were significantly different for respondents who worked in the body & chassis department versus those who worked in the plastic injection & molding department (p = .005). The mean self-reported job performance ratings were significantly different for respondents who worked in the paint & finish department and were lower than respondents who worked in quality & control testing (p = .012). The mean self-reported measures of job performance ratings were statistically significant for those who worked in the engine and drivetrain assembly department which were higher than those who worked in plastic injection & molding (p = .004). Job performance ratings were higher for those who worked in quality control and testing and were significantly different than those who worked in plastic injection & molding (p = .001). Respondents who worked in the plastic injection & molding department had significantly lower mean self-reported job performance ratings than those who in the welding department (p = .015).

Respondents who worked in the body and chassis department had significantly higher self-efficacy scores than those who worked in plastic injection & molding (p = .007). Respondents who worked in the engine & drivetrain assembly departments had significantly higher self-efficacy scores versus those who worked in plastic injection & molding (p = .015). Respondents who worked in quality control and testing had significantly higher self-efficacy scores than respondents who worked in the plastic injection and molding departments (p = .005). See Table 8 for descriptive statistics. Among the present sample, working in the welding department showed higher job performance ratings and self-efficacy scores compared to other job functions in final assembly facilities.

 Table 8

 Descriptive Statistics by Job Function and the Dependent Variables

Dependent Variable	Job Function	M	SD	N
Job Performance	Body & Chassis	4.709	.575	135
	Paint & Finish	4.540	.485	193
	Engine & Drivetrain Assembly	4.695	.454	195
	Interior Assembly & Installation	4.608	.472	209
	Quality Control & Testing	4.741	.495	119
	Plastic Injection & Molding	4.470	.527	109
	Steel, Aluminum, or Iron Machining & Stamping	4.481	.434	44
	Welding	4.791	.519	37
	Total	4.627	.502	1041
Self-Efficacy	Body & Chassis	5.426	1.114	135
	Paint & Finish	5.117	.904	193
	Engine & Drivetrain Assembly	5.371	.836	195
	Interior Assembly & Installation	5.229	.879	209
	Quality Control & Testing	5.448	.821	119
	Plastic Injection & Molding	5.005	.887	109
	Steel, Aluminum, or Iron Machining & Stamping	5.119	.739	44
	Welding	5.480	.783	37
	Total	5.266	.906	1041

# Summary

The results of this study conclude that age had little association with job performance ratings or self-efficacy scores, and that any previously held assumptions about age's relationship

with the pair of dependent variables was unfounded. Race and ethnicity's association with either of the pair of dependent variables seemed to have greater associations, however, as 4% of job performance variance was explained by race and ethnicity, and 5% of self-efficacy variance was explained by race and ethnicity. These effect sizes were before performing Tukey post hoc tests to determine which mean scores were different from the other groups within the race/ethnicity predictor variable.

When investigating each group's mean scores, it should be noted that higher than expected occurrences in the American Indian or Alaska Native group might have caused these findings to be skewed. This was a concern I had, and I wanted to offer a possible explanation for the larger than expected American Indian or Alaska Native sample size. The American Indian or Alaska Native group was the first choice in a radio-style selection on the survey that respondents were tasked with completing. For respondents who may have been reluctant to share their actual race or ethnicity, it could have been the case that they simply selected the first option available to avoid selecting the one that most-accurately represented them. Another explanation could be that some respondents may have preferred not to provided a response to that particular question but were not given the option to opt out of providing said response. An additional point of concern I had about this area of the findings was that Black and African American respondents appeared to represent less of this study's sample size than they did in the actual national population. However, there is research that suggested that individuals who identify as Black or African American, Hispanic, and Asian or Pacific Islander skip the race/ethnicity question by 6.6%, 4.7%, and 4.7%, respectively (Dembosky et al., 2019).

Education had the biggest overall effect size for explaining variance in self-reported job performance ratings and self-efficacy scores at nearly 9%. However, education explained 4% and

2% respectively when following up the multivariate test. Education as a predictor of job performance and self-efficacy was not a surprise. However, those with some high school education/no high school diploma had the second-highest mean scores (behind the group with a bachelor's degree and higher) for both job performance ratings (M = 4.618, SD = .457) and selfefficacy scores (M = 5.382, SD = .829) compared to the sample mean of 4.623 and 5.266 (SD =.502 and .906 respectively). The group with some high school/no high school diploma had mean scores higher than both the group with high school education and the group with some college/ associate's degree. Perhaps one of the reasons those within the sample with some high school/no high school diploma reported such higher job performance ratings and self-efficacy scores was out of a need to prove themselves and their beliefs in themselves that they were just as good at their jobs as those with higher levels of education. Another possible reason is that those who reported some high school, no high school diploma have been on the jobs longer than other samples; and, as a result of their tenure, they felt more confident in their abilities and in their job performance. I brought this up as a possible outcome, because I did not imagine that many firms would hire individuals without a high school education, and that the smaller sample size might be the result of those who were hired when the push toward more education was not as pervasive as it was at the time of this study.

Aside from age, the facility where employers worked appeared to have the smallest associations with self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores. Mercedes-Benz respondents had a mean score of 4.690 compared to Volvo respondents' 4.680 and Honda respondents' 4.677. The mean score for the entire sample was a 4.627, with Kia and Hyundai in job performance. Self-efficacy was similar in the bottom half, but respondents who worked for Honda had a mean score of 5.377 compared to the sample mean of 5.266. One thing that might

explain these numbers is better workplace pride and culture which has been a hallmark of Honda's ethos since its inception. Similarly, Mercedes-Benz' slogan, "The best or nothing" might shine light on its culture to build cars at the highest level which ultimately resulted in employees who had greater access to training and resources to ensure they were successful and produce the highest-quality automobiles. The manufacturers included in this study all had powerful reputations - both good and less than desirable. Honda, for example, was widely seen as one of the most reliable, efficient, and longest lasting cars on the road along with Toyota (not represented in this study). Mercedes-Benz and BMW were long-considered to be the standard for mainstream luxury and performance. Volvo was long associated with reliability and safety while Hyundai, and its subsidiary Kia, are just now being viewed as formidable competitors to the other brands listed here. Yet, the self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores were at the bottom for respondents from Hyundai and Kia. Perhaps this is explained by both brands having operated manufacturing facilities in their areas for the least amount of time while BMW has been building cars in the United States since 1994, Mercedes-Benz has been producing automobiles stateside since 1997, and Honda has been producing cars in the country since 1982.

Job function was, perhaps, the most interesting of the findings in this study, as those in welding had both job performance ratings (M = 4.791, SD = .519) and self-efficacy scores (M = 5.480, SD = .783) higher than those of any other groups in the job function category. In addition to this being a smaller sample of the overall sample size, I anticipated that training requirements played a role in these averages having been higher than the sample size's job performance ratings (M = 4.627, SD = .502) and self-efficacy scores (M = 5.266, SD = .906). The lowest mean scores for job performance (M = 4.470, SD = .527) and self-efficacy (M = 5.005, SD = .887) belonged

to those who worked in plastic injection/molding. The job performance mean score for all job classes was 4.791 with a standard deviation of .502. For self-efficacy, the mean score for all job classes was a 5.266 with a standard deviation of .906. Of all of the job functions listed here, only welding had certifications that were often encouraged or sought after by employers. Almost all other job functions were paired with some sort of automation on the assembly line; Those roles, while still technical and challenging, did not require the same type of training or skill that was required of welders. This education and certification process might explain why welders had both higher job performance and self efficacy than the rest of the sample size.

While I have made the delineation between job performance and self-efficacy, the strong correlation between the two dependent variables may have caused concern that the two instruments were not actually measuring two different constructs. When evaluating these findings, it was important to note that the robustness of the analyses might have been affected as a result of the two measures failing to meet the assumption of homogeneity of covariance matrices. In addition, failing to meet the assumption of homogeneity of variance might have also had an effect on the statistical significance of the findings (Tabachnick & Fidell, 1996).

#### **CHAPTER V**

#### DISCUSSION

The goals of this research were guided by research questions that were primarily focused on finding statistically significant differences in both job performance measures and self-efficacy measures. Here, I present the findings of this study, limitations of the study, and how future research surrounding workforce training and education in automobile manufacturing might be assessed, implemented, and made more effective in the future.

### **Summary of Key Findings**

In this study, I wanted to know how final assembly workers assessed their job performance as workers in the context of automobile manufacturing and how they felt about their abilities to learn new information and skills and put those items into action. In the next several sections, I discuss the overall findings of the data analysis.

#### Job Performance and Self-Efficacy

There were several key findings of this research. First, the two constructs (self-reported job performance and self-efficacy) that were assessed in this research appeared to quantify or explain very similar concepts. This was discovered in Chapter Four when I discussed the findings of the research question that looked at the relationship between the pair of dependent variables. This was consistent with the findings in the work by Abosede and Adesanya (2017) and Chae and Park (2020) which saw task performance increased as respondents' general self-efficacy increased. While this was an anticipated result, it did cause me to question whether Carlos and Rodrigues' (2016) job performance instrument and Chen et al.'s (2001) self-efficacy instruments measured too similar of constructs, and if this research might be better suited using less subjective measures.

The self-reported job performance measure might have been more closely aligned to self-efficacy than desirable, which would support an argument for the use of a more objective job performance measurement that was assessed by managers, supervisors, or even peers. Another consideration of combining the two instruments used in this study was that their validity, particularly the New General Self-Efficacy instrument, was assessed to measure self-efficacy. Because of this, using either instrument from the present study in combination with an alternative instrument is recommended. Carlos and Rodrigues, in developing the self-reported measure of job performance instrument, used experts in the academy, human resources, psychology, work/organizational psychology, and organizational behavior to ensure that the instrument actually assessed job performance; however, because the instrument was a self-report one, concerns about whether respondents were as truthful or forthcoming arose.

### Age

Age was the next construct that I wanted to test against self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy. I hypothesized that age would be associated with self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy. In the present study, the self-reported measure of job performance was not statistically different based on respondents' age. This was also true for self-efficacy. Age did not provide any prediction of respondents' job performance or self-efficacy measures.

#### Race and Ethnicity

While the differences in age on the two measures in this study were not significantly different, race and ethnicity were. I hypothesized that self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy would result in significant differences between groups. The findings found that job performance and self-efficacy were significantly different across race and ethnicity. In this

study, those who identified as American Indian or Alaska Native had the highest job performance and self-efficacy scores of all racial and ethnic groups in the study. This group also represented over 20% of the sample size, a number that is far greater than that of the general population (approximately 1%). Those who identified as Hispanic/Latino and Pacific Islander/Native Hawaiian had the lowest job performance and self-efficacy metrics. I would like to address and offer a possible explanation of why the American Indian or Alaska Native sample size might be over-estimated in this study: 1) "American Indian/Alaska Native" was the first choice on the survey under the question "Please make the selection that *best* describes your ethnicity," as items were listed in alphabetical order; 2) there was not an option that allowed respondents to opt-out of answering the question about their race/ethnicity. This might have caused respondents to be uncomfortable or may have caused other respondents who believe that race and ethnicity were not relevant or helpful measurements in this study to be frustrated.

Findings by the National Congress of American Indians suggested that the American Indian or Alaska Native population was underrepresented in government census data and other important counts by approximately five percent (2021). That research cited access to American Indian or Alaska Native populations as being limited, particularly on reservations and villages that were more remote, as one of the primary reasons the population was not believed to be accurately reflected in census data. The research also stated that several states, including Alaska, Arizona, New Mexico, Montana, and South Dakota, had large populations of its American Indian/Alaska Native residents that lived in "hard to count tracts" with 67%, 68%, 79%, 50%, and 52% of the American Indian or Alaska Native population respectively living in one of those areas. I recognize that this may explain some of the variation in the expected range versus the population of American Indian or Alaska Native respondents in the present study.

In this summary, I did not purport to say the national American Indian or Alaska Native population is or should be more closely aligned to the 20% sample in this study; I offered these explanations in an effort to explain some of the variances between their representation in this study and the national American Indian or Alaska Native population.

An additional finding that was not expected was the sample size of Black or African American and Latino or Hispanic-identifying individuals. Like the logic and rationale for the American Indian or Alaska Native respondents, it might have been the case that Black/African American and Latino or Hispanic-identifying respondents felt it unnecessary or immaterial to the present study, and thus opted out of providing a legitimate answer given there was no option to skip the question without providing an answer. In this study, the Black or African American sample was shy of the national population by 2% (11% versus 13% respectively). However, this study's Latino or Hispanic sample size was 14% points lower than the national population of 19%.

#### Educational Attainment Levels

I hypothesized that respondents' levels of education would bear out significant differences in job performance and self-efficacy measures. The findings found that respondents did have significantly different job performance and self-efficacy scores based on their education level. Respondents were given four options that quantified their education levels (some high school/no high school diploma, high school diploma/no college, some college/associate's degree, and bachelor's degree or higher). Of these listed, those with bachelor's degrees had both the highest mean scores for self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores. These two findings were consistent with most literature, as the belief that one who was more educated was

likely to perform better in a given job while also having greater confidence in an ability to learn new information and effectuate new tasks (Ng and Feldman, 2009).

However, those who indicated having some high school but no high school diploma had job performance and self-efficacy ratings higher than those with a high school diploma and those with some college or an associate's degree. This finding might be explained by an overcompensation attitude that respondents may have displayed to assert that their level of education was sufficient for being successful in their roles in final and general assembly. It may also be the case that administering a self-report instrument to assess job performance assumes that individuals are self-aware or have the insight to assess themselves without bias fully or that they will be truthful in assessing their performance (Heainisch & Jex, 1998).

### Manufacturing Facility

I hypothesized that manufacturing facilities would have a strong relationship with self-reported job performance and self-efficacy scores. In this study, I found that the manufacturing facility where respondents were employed had one of the smallest relationships to either self-reported measures of job performance or self-efficacy. Despite this, the more established manufacturers, such as Honda, Mercedes-Benz, and BMW, still had respondents who had higher-assessed scores in both measures than the relative new players (Hyundai and its subsidiary, Kia) to the automotive industry. For instance, the Mercedes-Benz plant in Tuscaloosa, Alabama, had the highest mean score for self-reported job performance, followed by Volvo, Honda, BMW, Kia, and Hyundai. Respondents from Honda had the highest mean score for self-efficacy, followed by BMW, Volvo, Mercedes-Benz, Kia, and Hyundai. The top-scoring facilities in both measures have been in operation for over two decades (Mercedes-Benz in Alabama since 1997, Honda in Alabama since 2001).

Furthermore, Honda may have benefitted from practices learned from its two Ohio-based facilities that started production in 1982 (Marysville) and 1989 (East Liberty). The higherscoring brands also had the longest established histories not only in the automotive industry, but also in manufacturing presence and duration in the Southeastern United States. The brands that were perceived to be relative newcomers to the field were lower in both metrics. It was also the case that the brands with the lowest job performance and self-efficacy metrics were also the brands that were historically perceived to be lower in brand prestige and lower in quality, reliability, and durability. While those perceptions, on either side, were still evolving, the attitudes toward the brands still appeared to carry historical importance.

#### Job Function

I hypothesized that job function would result in significantly different mean scores on self-reported job performance and self-efficacy scores. Job function's relationship with job performance and self-efficacy metrics was perhaps, the most important, as most of the job functions in this study did not require a specific education, certification, or training requirement. As far as this body of work is concerned, none of the brands had specific job requirements that listed specific qualifications aside from generic and universal qualifications. The welding department is the one job function that often encourages certification or additional education, and it had the highest job function and self-efficacy measures compared to all others. This indicated that both self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy might have been increased by additional education and training opportunities for respondents who held other job functions. However, this may not be the most productive way if associated training costs would be placed on employees versus the employers. Jobs with the lowest metrics - such as those dealing with plastic/plastic injection/molding and highly-automated machines that performed a significant

amount of the work - might prove to benefit both perceived job performance and self-efficacy of respondents.

#### Recommendations

Earlier in this study, I discussed how popular adult education theories might be implemented in workforce training within the automotive industry. Given the fast-paced, production-centered nature of automotive manufacturing, and the fact that this study found education levels to be statistically significant in both self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy scores, it is my recommendation that leadership and human resource personnel ensure training requirements and opportunities allow workers some autonomy and input in the planning of their training. In addition, efforts should be made to ensure that final assembly workers are given a variety of mediums by which to learn new information and skills. For instance, research suggested that pre-production units, while costly, were still necessary in manufacturing processes (Hermawati et al., 2015). Other researchers suggested that implementing virtual reality would be beneficial in filling the gap in watching new skills be implemented and actually performing new skills in limited numbers (Gorecky et al., 2015). This would allow final assembly workers to receive delivery of new information and skills through different mediums, potentially exposing them to one that is most beneficial to their learning styles.

I also recommend that managers and leaders who have the most contact with final assembly workers consider how to best re-engage workers who find themselves frustrated at the need to change long-standing processes that govern manufacturing processes — processes that have become less efficient or effective as a result of changes within the industry. This should be addressed by providing leadership and management with information about transformative

learning theory to assist them in how they approach responding to frustrated workers who express a desire to hold on to their values and beliefs about how to perform their jobs in an ever-evolving context. As a follow up, leadership should give final assembly workers greater access to training and education that helps them to better learn new information and skills versus being debilitated by the changing and evolving industry.

By considering self-directed learning theory, leadership within manufacturers facilities should also consider implementing increased opportunities for final assembly workers to seek out training that is related to automobile manufacturing but also focuses on increased knowledge and skills in areas that would promote increased responsibilities and opportunities to be promoted within the organization. This would allow final assembly workers to feel like they are being put in the best positions to be successful within the organization, even if it meant moving to another job function within it.

In the present study, I discussed how self-efficacy is positively associated with job performance and other performance measurements. Positive associations between self-efficacy and various measures of performance were found in several studies (Stajkovic & Luthans, 1998; Robbins et al., 2004; Artino, 2012; Cherian & Jacob, 2013; Chae & Park, 2020; ). The last recommendation that I make is concerned with how self-efficacy might be manipulated in final assembly workers to increase efficiency and productivity. Zelanak (2020) found that increases in measurements of self-efficacy often occurred after individuals were engaged in repeated and successful efforts at challenging tasks. By implementing repeated efforts in training programs, leadership and management can employ experiential learning theory to encourage final assembly workers to reflect on the successes and shortcomings of their training and practice efforts, with greater emphasis being placed on the successes to encourage increases in self-efficacy.

Many of the recommendations for practice hinge on leaders within the automotive industry partnering with educators and leaders currently engaged in workforce training and education and other adult education practices. This would allow the two groups — educators and leadership within the automotive industry — to seek ways to best engage final assembly workers in the acquisition of new skills and knowledge. These two groups should work together to ensure that they stress to final assembly workers how new training and education will be applied immediately, how it will aid them in being more successful and efficient, and how the training and continuing education that takes place can be used to increase future on-the-job opportunities for promotion. Educators in the field of adult education are recommended to provide organizations like automobile manufacturers with layperson examples of theories so that expectations about training goals and outcomes can be managed and training better designed to reach the most individuals while providing the most significant impact.

#### Recommendations for Future Research

Given the results of this study, there are a few recommendations for future research. First, a more targeted research design that focuses on different predictor variables, potentially limiting them to education level and job function, should be considered, as those two variables were perhaps the most salient in this study. A future research design might also include job performance measures that are part of respondents' personnel files with their employers (such as annual reviews, disciplinary action, merit pay increases, promotions, et cetera). Similarly, a future research design might also be qualitative or mixed methods to provide greater detail and nuanced understandings of the values represented here. If a quantitative research design is attempted again, efforts should be made to ensure sample sizes are more representative of the larger populations one which the data findings will be ultimately used to generalize.

Other research that is recommended centers around job performance as measured objectively but also in the context of industry-wide vehicle standings in terms of quality, performance, defects, dependability, and reliability. This type of research might look at cross-examining the perception of high-quality work internally at participating manufacturing facilities against industry metrics that are assessed by organizations such as Consumer Reports, J.D. Power and Associates, Kelly Blue Book, and others. This could highlight differences in perceptions about job performance and reality.

Another recommendation for future research stems from the type of recruitment of employees, onboarding, training, and continuing education/professional development that is offered to employees. Future research should focus on comparing what were perceived to be the most engaging and effective onboarding and training practices by manufacturers in an effort to provide less-successful firms a framework for improving their training that increases objective measures of job performance, efficiency while simultaneously reducing associated costs and errors or defects. This would involve working with manufacturing firms such as Toyota's manufacturing facility in Kentucky and BMW's manufacturing facility in South Carolina.

Because education level and job function appeared to have the greatest significant differences on job performance and self-efficacy, research surrounding the differences in training provided to different job functions and research surrounding the nature of attitudes about job performance within less formally educated individuals might also be considered.

A future research study should focus on providing control groups to compare job performance ratings with that of varying groups of self-efficacy ratings. This research might help to determine whether manufacturing facilities should invest efforts into helping potential employees feel confident in their abilities to engage in and learn new information and skills.

#### **Limitations of the Present Study**

While this study did shine a light on some of the variables that are associated with self-reported measures of job performance and self-efficacy, the two constructs, as measured by Carlos and Rodrigues' self-reported measure of job performance and Chen et al.'s New General Self-Efficacy instrument, were too similar in their assessments. By conducting of a Pearson correlation coefficient, I learned that it ultimately indicated a very strong relationship between the job performance and self-efficacy constructs which caused me to question if this research would be better-suited by using a more objective measure of job performance as previously discussed. This study may have been limited by using two self-report measures that share 2/3 of their variance; and, the present study would benefit from replication using a different job performance instrument or a different self-efficacy instrument.

A second limitation of this study involved the use of the self-reported measure of job performance. Research suggested that when given the opportunity to measure themselves, respondents often chose responses or answers they perceived to be more socially acceptable, even in anonymous surveys (Rosenman et al., 2011). Self-reported measures are also said to cause respondents to select responses that they are unfamiliar with or unsure of the actual meaning or implication. Another limitation of the job performance measure used in this study was that, as a self-reported measure, a greater understanding of oneself was necessary to be able to place oneself in a theoretical context in which they could predict their response or behavior (Haeffel & Howard, 2010).

Adding to that, some respondents expressed confusion by some of the questions or statements contained within the two instruments, particularly those they perceived had nothing to do with their day-to-day functions. I received feedback that indicated that some of the questions

or statements had little to no impact on the work and responsibilities of final assembly workers. This challenge might have been overcome by being able to engage respondents in an actual dialogue versus asking them to read the information letter and draw their own conclusions about items on which they showed confusion or had questions. This is likely to be overcome in a future study that uses objective measures of performance where participants are not tasked with assessing their performance, but rather leadership, managers, and other who observe their performance.

This study was administered solely through an online medium and made no room or space for those who may not have had access to a mobile telephone or tablet device or for those who were either uncomfortable or not trained on the use of computers for assessment. To that end, this study potentially missed out on an opportunity to include a greater number of participants that might have provided even greater insight into the attitudes and beliefs of final assembly workers. Similarly, the survey was relatively long and asked individuals who may have had rough or challenging days at work to "go home" and have to relive those experiences by thinking about work-related constructs while away from work, potentially causing would-be participants to forego an opportunity to participate in the research.

By using anonymous survey methods, the belief is that respondents are more likely to answer honestly, as they do not feel the pressure to answer in more socially accepted ways (Rosenman et al., 2011). However, there is research that suggested that anonymous survey methods might actually cause respondents to be less accountable for their responses, thereby providing data that is less accurate or honest (Lelkes et al., 2012).

#### **Conclusions**

In this study, I discovered that self-reported job performance and self-efficacy measurements were significantly different based on race and ethnicity, level of educational attainment, manufacturing facility, and job function, but that age did not result in significantly different measures on either construct. The two variables that appeared to have the most significant association on measures of job performance and self-efficacy were respondents' education levels and their job functions, thus my recommendation to focus on research that examines these two variables.

The results of this study leave several questions to be answered. First, how can self-efficacy be better examined to ensure that it measures a different construct than job performance? This was already addressed by my recommendation that more objective job performance measures be used in a future study. In that future study that includes objective measures of job performance, an assessment of the relationship or correlation between job performance and self-efficacy can be conducted to increase confidence that the two scores measure different constructs. Next, why do different job functions have significantly different job performance and self-efficacy measurements? This study did not provide insight into this, as it was not a focus of the research.

This study leaves room for additional studies that look at collaborative efforts between two-year institutions that engage in workforce training geared toward the manufacturing industry. Additionally, examination of the type of training that automobile manufacturers offer to final assembly workers should also be studied to assess how workers' performance is associated with the types of on-the-job training offered.

#### References

- Abosede, S. C., & Adesanya, A. O. (2017). Contributions of self-efficacy and problem solving skills on secretaries' job performance in ogun state public service, Nigeria. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 8(11), 8.
- Adler, S., Campion, M., Colquitt, A., Grubb, A., Murphy, K., Ollander-Krane, R., & Pulakos, E. D. (2016). Getting rid of performance ratings: Genius or folly? A debate. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 9(2), 219–252. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2015.106
- Alliance of Automobile Manufacturers (Auto Alliance) (2018). Economy: America's automobile industry is one of the most powerful engines driving the US economy (2018). Retrieved from https://autoalliance.org/economy/
- Artino, A. R. (2012). Academic self-efficacy: From educational theory to instructional practice.

  \*Perspectives on Medical Education, 1(2), 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/

  s40037-012-0012-5
- Automobile History. (2010, April 26). *Automobile history*. history.com. https://www.history.com/topics/inventions/automobiles
- Automotive industry: Employment, earnings, and hours (2020). *Bureau of Labor Statistics*.

  Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov/iag/tgs/iagauto.htm#emp\_national
- Azok, D. (2021, January 20). Alabama's auto industry primes for growth milestones in 2021.

  Made in Alabama. https://www.madeinalabama.com/2021/01/alabamas-auto-industry-primes-for-growth-milestones-in-2021/
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191

- Bandura, A. (1986). The Explanatory and predictive scope of self-efficacy theory. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *4*(3), 359–373. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.1986.4.3.359

  Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. W. H. Freeman.
- Bass, C. (2012). Learning theories & their application to science instruction for adults. *The American Biology Teacher*, 74(6), 387–390. https://doi.org/10.1525/abt.2012.74.6.6
- Beattie, S., Woodman, T., Fakehy, M., & Dempsey, C. (2016). The role of performance feedback on the self-efficacy–performance relationship. *Sport, Exercise, and Performance Psychology*, *5*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1037/spy0000051
- Beausaert, S., Segers, M., Fouarge, D., & Gijselaers, W. (2013). Effect of using a personal development plan on learning and development. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, *25*(3), 145–158. https://doi.org/10.1108/13665621311306538
- Betz, N. E., & Klein, K. L. (1996). Relationships among measures of career self-efficacy, generalized self-efficacy, and global self-esteem. *Journal of Career Assessment*, *4*(3), 285–298. https://doi.org/10.1177/106907279600400304
- Boeren, E., Roumell, E. A., & Roessger, K. M. (2020). COVID-19 and the Future of adult education: An editorial. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 70(3), 201–204. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741713620925029
- Brennan, E. M., Sellmaier, C., Jivanjee, P., & Grover, L. (2019). Is online training an effective workforce development strategy for transition service providers? Results of a comparative study. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, *27*(4), 235–245. https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426618819438

- BMW. (2021, February 22). *BMW manufacturing announces construction of new training center*[Press release]. https://www.press.bmwgroup.com/usa/article/detail/T0326551EN\_US/
  bmw-manufacturing-announces-construction-of-new-training-center?language=en\_US
- Carey, M. P., & Forsyth, A. D. (2009). Teaching tip sheet: Self-efficacy. https://www.apa.org/pi/aids/resources/education/self-efficacy
- Carlos, V. S., & Rodrigues, R. G. (2016). Development and validation of a self-reported measure of job performance. *Social Indicators Research*, *126*(1), 279–307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-015-0883-z
- Carruth, D. W. (2017). Virtual reality for education and workforce training. 2017 15th

  International Conference on Emerging ELearning Technologies and Applications

  (ICETA), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICETA.2017.8102472
- Chae, H., & Park, J. (2020). Interactive effects of employee and coworker general self-efficacy on job performance and knowledge sharing. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 48(7), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.9527
- Chen, G., Gully, S. M., & Eden, D. (2001). Validation of a new general self-efficacy scale.

  \*Organizational Research Methods, 4(1), 62–83. https://doi.org/

  10.1177/109442810141004
- Chen, G., Gully, S. M., & Eden, D. (2004). General self-efficacy and self-esteem: Toward theoretical and empirical distinction between correlated self-evaluations. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 25(3), 375–395. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.251

- Chen, G. (2019, December 28). Manufacturing training expanding at community colleges nationwide. *Community College Review*. https://www.communitycollegereview.com/blog/manufacturing-training-expanding-at-community-colleges-nationwide
- Chen, G. (2020, April 24). Careers: Car manufacturing. *Community College Review*. https://www.communitycollegereview.com/blog/careers-car-manufacturing
- Cherian, J., & Jacob, J. (2013). Impact of self efficacy on motivation and performance of employees. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8(14), p80. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v8n14p80
- Cho, J., Schilpzand, P., Huang, L., & Paterson, T. (2021). How and when humble leadership facilitates employee job performance: The roles of feeling trusted and job autonomy. 

  \*Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies\*, 28(2), 169–184. https://doi.org/
  10.1177/1548051820979634
- Clinton, S. (2020, October 8). Assembly plants chase sales demand. The Lane Report. https://www.lanereport.com/131688/2020/10/assembly-plants-chase-sales-demand/
- Cooney, R. (1997). Training reform in the Australian automotive industry. *International Journal of Training and Development*, *1*(4), 259–270. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2419.00025
- Cooney, R. (2010). Workplace training in a deregulated training system: Experiences from Australia's automotive industry. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, *31*(3), 389–403. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143831X10365571
- Dankbaar, B. (1999). Training issues for the European automotive industry. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, *31*(5), 174–181. https://doi.org/10.1108/00197859910284764

- Darkenwald, G., G., & Merriam, S., B. (1982). *Adult education: Foundations of practice*. Harper & Rowe.
- Dembosky, J. W., Haviland, A. M., Haas, A., Hambarsoomian, K., Weech-Maldonado, R., Wilson-Frederick, S. M., Gaillot, S., & Elliott, M. N. (2019). Indirect estimation of race/ethnicity for survey respondents who do not report race/ethnicity. *Medical Care*, *57*(5), e28–e33. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.0000000000001011
- Deng, J., Guo, Y., Ma, T., Yang, T., & Tian, X. (2019). How job stress influences job performance among Chinese healthcare workers: A cross-sectional study. *Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine*, 24(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12199-018-0758-4
- Dernova, M. (2015). Experiential learning theory as one of the foundations of adult learning practice worldwide. *Comparative Professional Pedagogy*, *5*(2), 52–57. https://doi.org/10.1515/rpp-2015-0040
- Downes, P. E., Crawford, E. R., Seibert, S. E., Stoverink, A. C., & Campbell, E. M. (2021).

  Referents or role models? The self-efficacy and job performance effects of perceiving higher performing peers. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *106*(3), 422–438. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000519
- Eden, D., & Aviram, A. (1993). Self-efficacy training to speed reemployment: Helping people to help themselves. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(3), 352–360. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.78.3.352
- Fiorelli, T., Dziczek, K., & Schlegel, T. (2019). Automation adoption & implications for the automotive workforce. Center for automotive research. https://www.cargroup.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Automation\_Adoption\_Implications\_on\_Workforce.pdf

- Gaudart, C. (2000). Conditions for maintaining aging operators at work—A case study conducted at an automobile manufacturing plant. *Applied Ergonomics*, *31*(5), 453–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-6870(00)00024-7
- Giffi, C., Dollar, B., Gangula, B., & Rodriguez, M. D. (2015). Help wanted: American manufacturing competitiveness and the looming skills gaps. *Deloitte Review, 16.* https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/insights/us/articles/manufacturing-skills-gap-america/DR16\_help\_wanted.pdf
- Goldstein, J. (2012, October 17). Manufacturing jobs aren't coming back, no matter who's president. *National Public Radio*. 02/21/2021. https://www.npr.org/sections/money/ 2012/10/17/163074704/manufacturing-jobs-arent-coming-back-no-matter-whos-president
- Gorecky, D., Khamis, M., & Mura, K. (2015). Introduction and establishment of virtual training in the factory of the future. *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 30(1), 182-190. https://doi.org/10.1080/0951192X.2015.1067918
- Gouthro, P. A. (2019). Taking time to learn: The importance of theory for adult education. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 69(1), 60–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741713618815656
- Haeffel, G.J., & Howard, G.S. (2010). Self-report: Psychology's four-letter word. The American *Journal of Psychology*, 123(2), 181. https://doi.org/10.5406/amerjpsyc.123.2.0181
- Hajloo, N. (2014). Relationships between self-efficacy, self-esteem and procrastination in undergraduate psychology students. *Iranian Journal of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences*, 8(3), 42–49.
- Hausdorf, P. A., & Robie, C. (2018). Understanding subgroup differences with general mental ability tests in employment selection: Exploring socio-cultural factors across inter-

- generational groups. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 26(2–4), 176–190. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijsa.12226
- Hawkins, A.J. (2019, March 13). Pilots complained about autopilot issues with Boeing jets involved in two deadly crashes. Retrieved from https://www.theverge.com/
- Hayat, A. A., Shateri, K., Amini, M., & Shokrpour, N. (2020). Relationships between academic self-efficacy, learning-related emotions, and metacognitive learning strategies with academic performance in medical students: A structural equation model. *BMC Medical Education*, 20(1), 76. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-01995-9
- Heainisch, D. A., & Jex, S. M. (1998). Measurement of negative affectivity: A comparison of self-reports and observer ratings. *Work & Stress*, *12*(2), 145–160. https://doi.org/
- Hermawati, S., Lawson, G., D'Cruz, M., Arlt, F., Apold, J., Andersson, L., Lövgren, M. G., & Malmsköld, L. (2015). Understanding the complex needs of automotive training at final assembly lines. *Applied Ergonomics*, *46*, 144–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2014.07.014
- Hetzner, C. (n.d.). Audi quits bid to give A8 Level 3 autonomy. *Automotive News*. Retrieved April 28, 2020, from https://www.autonews.com/cars-concepts/audi-quits-bid-give-a8-level-3-autonomy
- Hill, K., Menk, D., & Cooper, A. (2010). Contributions of the automotive industry to the economies of all fifty states and the United States. Center for Automotive Research. https://www.cargroup.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/CONTRIBUTION-OF-THE-

- AUTOMOTIVE-INDUSTRY-TO-THE-ECONOMIES-OF-ALL-FIFTY-STATES-AND-THE-UNITED-STATES.pdf
- Iagnemma, K. (2021, February 22). An extraordinarily ordinary moment: Motional operates driverless vehicles on public roads [Automotive]. *Motional Blog.* https://motional.com/motional-operates-driverless-vehicles-on-public-roads/
- Ikumapayi, O. M., Akinlabi, E. T., Mwema, F. M., & Ogbonna, O. S. (2020). Six sigma versus lean manufacturing An overview. *Materials Today: Proceedings*, *26*, 3275–3281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2020.02.986
- Judge, T. A., Erez, A., & Bono, J. E. (1998). The power of being positive: The relation between positive self-concept and job performance. *Human Performance*, *11*(2–3), 167–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/08959285.1998.9668030
- Judge, T. A., Jackson, C. L., Shaw, J. C., Scott, B. A., & Rich, B. L. (2007). Self-efficacy and work-related performance: The integral role of individual differences. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(1), 107–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.1.107
- Judge, T. A., & Kammeyer-Mueller, J. D. (2012). General and specific measures in organizational behavior research: Considerations, examples, and recommendations for researchers: GENERAL AND SPECIFIC. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 33(2), 161–174. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.764
- Knowles, M. S. (1970). The modern practice of adult education: Andragogy versus pedagogy.
  Knowles, M. S. (1973). The adult learner: A neglected species. Gulf Publishing Company.
  Knowles, M. S. (1975). Adult education: New dimensions. *Educational Leadership*, 33(2), 85.5p.

- Knowles, M. S. (1975). Self-directed learning: A guide for learners and teachers. Association Press.
- Knowles, M. S. (1980). The modern practice of adult education: From pedagogy to andragogy (Rev. and updated). Cambridge Adult Education.
- Knowles, M. S. (Ed.). (1984). Andragogy in action (1st ed). Jossey-Bass.
- Knowles, M. S. (1989). The making of an adult educator: An autobiographical journey (1st ed). Jossey-Bass.
- Kuk, H.-S., & Holst, J. D. (2018). A Dissection of experiential learning theory: Alternative approaches to reflection. *Adult Learning*, 29(4), 150–157. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1045159518779138
- Kucherov, D., & Manokhina, D. (2017). Evaluation of training programs in Russian manufacturing companies. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 41(2), 119–143. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-10-2015-0084
- Lelkes, Y., Krosnick, J. A., Marx, D. M., Judd, C. M., & Park, B. (2012). Complete anonymity compromises the accuracy of self-reports. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 48(6), 1291–1299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2012.07.002
- Loeng, S. (2017). Alexander Kapp the first known user of the andragogy concept. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, *36*(6), 629–643. https://doi.org/
- Madrigal, A. C. (2018, December 20). 7 Arguments against the autonomous-vehicle utopia: All the ways the self-driving future won't come to pass. *The Atlantic*. https://

- www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2018/12/7-arguments-against-the-autonomous-vehicle-utopia/578638/
- Manjoo, F. (2021, February 18). There's one big problem with electric cars: They're still cars. technology can't cure America of its addiction to the automobile. *The New York* Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/02/18/opinion/electric-cars-SUV.html
- Marsick, V. J., Watkins, K. E., Callahan, M. W., & Volpe, M. (2009). Informal and incidental learning in the workplace. In M.C. Smith & N. DeFrates-Densch, *Handbook of Research on Adult Learning and Development* (pp. 570-600). Routledge: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Martocchio, J. J., & Judge, T. A. (1997). Relationship between conscientiousness and learning in employee training: Mediating influences of self-deception and self-efficacy. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82(5), 764–773. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.82.5.764
- Merriam, S., B., & Bierema, L., L. (2014). *Adult learning: Linking theory and practice*. Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S., B., & Brockett, R., G. (1997). *The profession and practice of adult education: An introduction*. Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Mezirow, J. (1991). Transformative dimensions of adult learning (1st ed). Jossey-Bass.
- Midtsundstad, T. (2019). A review of the research literature on adult learning and employability. *European Journal of Education*, ejed.12321. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12321
- Mori, K., & Kikuchi, Y. (1992). Investigation and research on classification of productive skills (I). Actual Work and Skills in the Car Manufacturing Industry. *Human Ergology Society*, 21(2), 153-164. https://doi.org/10.11183/jhe1972.21.153

- Morris, K. C., & Thomas, D. S. (2020). Measuring manufacturing's significance in the USA.

  Smart and Sustainable Manufacturing Systems, 4(3), 20200054. https://doi.org/10.1520/
  SSMS20200054
- Moseley, B. (2021, January 29). Alabama expected to add 6,000 more auto jobs in coming months. *Alabama Political Reporter*. https://www.alreporter.com/2021/01/29/alabama-expected-to-add-6000-more-auto-jobs-in-coming-months/
- Mutikani, L. (2021, January 7). U.S. economy loses jobs as COVID-19 hammers restaurants, bars. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-economy/u-s-economy-loses-jobs-as-covid-19-hammers-restaurants-bars-idUSKBN29D0J9
- National Congress of American Indians Census. (2020). National congress of American Indians. https://www.ncai.org/policy-issues/economic-development-commerce/census
- Ng, T. W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (2009). How broadly does education contribute to job performance? *Personnel Psychology*, *62*(1), 89–134. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2008.01130.x
- O'Sullivan, D., Rolstadås, A., & Filos, E. (2011). Global education in manufacturing strategy.

  \*\*Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing, 22(5), 663–674. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10845-009-0326-2
- Ordaz, N., Romero, D., Gorecky, D., & Siller, H. R. (2015). Serious games and virtual simulator for automotive manufacturing education & training. *Procedia Computer Science*, 75, 267–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2015.12.247
- Özdemir, A., Karaşan, S., & Şahal, M. (2021). An examination of the relationship between secondary school students' abstract thinking skills, self-efficacy perceptions and attitudes

- towards mathematics. *Participatory Educational Research*, 8(2), 391–406. https://doi.org/ 10.17275/per.21.45.8.2
- Pituch, K. A., & Stevens, J. (2016). Applied multivariate statistics for the social sciences:

  Analyses with SAS and IBM's SPSS (6th edition). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Ramos-Villagrasa, P. J., Barrada, J. R., Fernández-del-Río, E., & Koopmans, L. (2019).

  Assessing job performance using brief self-report scales: The case of individual work performance questionnaire. *Revista de Psicología Del Trabajo y de Las Organizaciones*, 35(3), 195–205. https://doi.org/10.5093/jwop2019a21
- Reuters Staff. (2021, March 31). Explainer: Why is there a global chip shortage and why should you care? Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/article/chips-shortage-explainer-int/explainer-why-is-there-a-global-chip-shortage-and-why-should-you-care-idUSKBN2BN30J
- Robbins, S. B., Lauver, K., Le, H., Davis, D., Langley, R., & Carlstrom, A. (2004). Do psychosocial and study skill factors predict college outcomes? A meta-analysis.

  \*Psychological Bulletin, 130(2), 261–288. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.130.2.261
- Roessger, K. M., Roumell, E. A., & Weese, J. (2020). Rethinking andragogical assumptions in the global age: How preferences for andragogical learning vary across people and cultures. *Studies in Continuing Education*, *42*(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/
- Rosenman, R., Tennekoon, V., & Hill, L. G. (2011). Measuring bias in self-reported data. *International Journal of Behavioural and Healthcare Research*, 2(4), 320. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBHR.2011.043414

- Ross-Gordon, J. M., Rose, A. D., & Kasworm, C. E. (2017). Foundations of Adult and Continuing Education. Jossey-Bass.
- Rutherford, T. D., & Holmes, J. (2014). Manufacturing resiliency: Economic restructuring and automotive manufacturing in the Great Lakes region. *Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society*, 7(3), 359–378. https://doi.org/10.1093/cjres/rsu014
- Schoen, J. W. (2012). Are employers to blame for "skills gap?" *CNBC*. https://www.cnbc.com/id/100284738
- Sugiura, E. (2021, February 24). Back-seat driver: How Honda stole the lead in autonomous cars. Nikkei Asia. https://asia.nikkei.com/Spotlight/The-Big-Story/Back-seat-driver-How-Honda-stole-the-lead-in-autonomous-cars
- Shepardson, D. (n.d.). Eight U.S. auto state governors urge Biden to press semiconductor firms on chip shortage. U.S. News & World Report. Retrieved February 21, 2021, from https://www.usnews.com/news/technology/articles/2021-02-26/eight-auto-state-governors-urge-biden-to-press-semiconductor-firms-on-chip-shortage
- Sledge, M. (2012, August 9). Carmakers, community colleges launch Curriculum for skilled workers. *The Huffington Post*. https://www.huffpost.com/entry/carmakers-community-colleges-workers\_n\_1758057
- Smith, A., & Dowling, P. J. (2001). Analyzing firm training: Five propositions for future research. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 12(2), 147. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.5

- Smith, E., Smith, A., & Selby Smith, C. (2010). Old dogs, new tricks: Training mature-aged manufacturing workers. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 22(5), 277–291. doi: 10.1108/13665621011053190
- Smith, O. (2018, March 19). 10,000 and counting: the most successful jet aircraft of all time.

  Retrieved from https://www.telegraph.co.uk/travel/comment/the-most-popular-plane-ever-made/
- Sommer, D., & Strong, P. (2016). Theory follows from practice: Lessons from the field. *University of Toronto Quarterly*, 85(4), 67–81.
- Speier, C., & Frese, Mi. (1997). Generalized self efficacy as a mediator and moderator between control and complexity at work and personal initiative: A longitudinal field study in East Germany. *Human Performance*, 10(2), 171–192. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327043hup1002\_7
- Stanford, J. (2010). The geography of auto globalization and the politics of auto bailouts.

  \*Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society, 3(3), 383–405. https://doi.org/10.1093/cjres/rsq025
- Stevenson, A. (Ed.). (2010). Oxford dictionary of English (3rd ed). Oxford University Press.
- Stratos, A., Loukas, R., Dimitris, M., Konstantinos, G., Dimitris, M., & George, C. (2016). A virtual reality application to attract young talents to manufacturing. *Procedia CIRP*, *57*, 134–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2016.11.024
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (1996). *Using multivariate statistics* (3rd ed). HarperCollins College Publishers.
- Tight, M. (1996). Key concepts in adult education and training. Routledge.

- Toensmeier, P. (2020). Change in the automotive industry spells opportunity for plastics: Electric and autonomous vehicles will dominate automotive offerings and require plastics that meet evolving performance and styling needs. *Plastics Engineering*, 76(7), 10–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/peng.20347
- Tully, S. (2020, October). Ford, just admit it: You're a truck maker now. Fortune Magazine, 182(2), 24–26.
- United States Census Bureau. (2021). North American industry classification system:

  Introduction to NAICS. https://www.census.gov/naics/
- Universal Technical Institute. (2021, June 17). *The difference between auto mechanics and auto technicians: Breaking it down.* https://www.uti.edu/blog/automotive/the-difference-between-a-mechanic-and-an-automotive-technician
- Van de Brake, H. J., Walter, F., Rink, F. A., Essens, P. J. M. D., & Vegt, G. S. (2020). Multiple team membership and job performance: The role of employees' information-sharing networks. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, *93*(4), 967–987. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12326
- Vukich, J. C., & Ackerman, A. A. (2010). Advanced manufacturing training: Mobile learning labs. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *34*(11), 932–935. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2010.509661
- Wang, V. X., Torrisi-Steele, G., & Hansman, C. A. (2019). Critical theory and transformative learning: *Some insights. Journal of Adult and Continuing Education*, *25*(2), 234–251. https://doi.org/10.1177/1477971419850837

- Woehr, D. J. (2008). On the relationship between job performance: What do we really know? *Industrial and Organizational Psychology, 1*(2), 161–166. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1754-9434.2008.00031.x
- Wulandari, A. (2017). Influence of education and work experience on work motivation and job performance at Branch Office of Bank J Trust Bank Surabaya. *The Spirit of Society Journal*, *I*(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.29138/scj.v1i1.364
- Yadav, G., & Desai, T. N. (2016). Lean Six Sigma: A categorized review of the literature.

  \*International Journal of Lean Six Sigma, 7(1), 2–24. https://doi.org/10.1108/

  \*IJLSS-05-2015-0015
- Zaki, W., Ali, A., Bakar, A., & Sarwar, B. (n.d.). Role of Self-Efficacy in The Relationship of Training and Employee Performance. *Paradigms*, *13*(1), 67–74.
- Zelenak, M. S. (2020). Developing self-efficacy to improve music achievement. *Music Educators Journal*, 107(2), 42–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/0027432120950812

### Appendix A

### **Tajuan Sellars**

From: IRB Administration

Sent: Tuesday, February 16, 2021 10:25 AM

To: Tajuan Sellars

Cc: Maria Witte; James Satterfield

Subject: Sellars Approval Exempt Protocol #21-076 EX 2102, "Job Performance and Self-Efficacy

of Final Assembly Workers in Southeastern Automobile Manufacturing Facilities" Investigators Responsibilities rev 1-2011.docx; Sellars 21-076 EX 2102 revisions 1.pdf

Use <a href="mailto:lRBsubmit@auburn.edu">!RBsubmit@auburn.edu</a> for questions and information.

The IRB only accepts forms posted at <a href="https://cws.auburn.edu/vpr/compliance/humansubjects/?Forms">https://cws.auburn.edu/vpr/compliance/humansubjects/?Forms</a> and submitted electronically.

Dear Tajuan,

Attachments:

Your protocol titled "Job Performance and Self-Efficacy of Final Assembly Workers in Southeastern Automobile Manufacturing Facilities" was approved by the AU IRB as "Exempt" under federal regulation 45 CFR 46.101(b)(2).

### Official notice:

This e-mail serves as notice the protocol has been approved. By accepting this approval, you also accept your responsibilities associated with this approval. Details of your responsibilities are attached. Please print and retain.

### Information Letter:

A copy of your approved protocol is attached. However you still need to add the following IRB approval information to your information letter(s): "The Auburn University Institutional Review Board has approved this document for use from February 11, 2021 to ------- Protocol #21-076 EX 2102, Sellars"

You must use the updated document(s) to consent participants.

### **Expiration:**

Continuing review of this Exempt protocol is not required; however, all modification/revisions to the approved protocol must be reviewed and approved by the IRB.

When you have completed all research activities, have no plans to collect additional data and have destroyed all identifiable information as approved by the IRB, notify Office of the IRB via e-mail. A final report is **not** required for Exempt protocols.

\*\*Please Note: With future submissions in item1.c of the EXEMPT application describe the role (recruitment? consent? data analysis? oversight? of all key personnel listed in item 1.c, the line for role.

Best wishes for success with your research!

IRB Admin Office of Research Compliance Auburn University 115 Ramsay Hall Auburn, AL 36849

### Appendix B

Self-Reported Measure of Job Performance Instrument Carlos and Rodrigues, 2016

### Instructions

Please indicate the best answer to each of the following statements, given that '1' means 'strongly disagree', '2' means 'disagree', '3' means 'somewhat disagree', '4' means 'neither agree nor disagree', '5' means 'somewhat agree', '6' means 'agree' and '7' means 'strongly agree''.'

## Task Performance Job Knowledge

- 1. If I need to perform a task that I'm not familiar with, I seek for information that allows me to perform it better
- 2. I don't think I could execute my tasks effectively if I didn't have a certain amount of experience
- 3. The way I perform the basic tasks required in my job is not always in agreement with what I'm capable of doing (R)
- 4. The way I perform the basic tasks required in my job corresponds completely to the performance that the organization where I work asks from me

### **Organizational Skills**

- 5. It is not always easy for me to perform tasks on time (R)
- 6. When I have a deadline to perform a certain task, I always finish it on time
- 7. If I had to perform a task in conjunction with other workers, I would probably be responsible for the planning, organizing and monitoring of the work to be done
- 8. I always leave my tasks to the last minute (R)
- 9. I am always aware when there is a lack of the resources (material or human) needed for the efficient performance of the organization

### **Efficiency**

- 10. Sometimes, I feel disappointed with my performance at work, because I know I could have done better
- 11. I consider myself a fundamental worker to the organization I work for, due to the high quality of my performance
- 12. Receiving feedback (from my subordinates, my colleagues, my supervisor or from the organization) is fundamental in order for me to continue performing my duties with dedication (R)

### Contextual performance Persistent effort

- 13. When something is not right at work, I don't complain because I am afraid that others won't agree with me (R)
- 14. Usually, I take the initiative to give constructive feedback in order to improve the performance of other workers (subordinates, colleagues, supervisor or workgroups)

- 15. In the event the organization did not provide the training that I consider necessary to perform my duties effectively, I would seek information from other sources
- 16. I'm still able to perform my duties effectively when I'm working under pressure
- 17. As soon as I arrive at work, I set aside all my personal problems, so that my performance is not harmed

### Cooperation

- 18. Usually, I dedicate less effort to work when performing a task in conjunction with other people (R)
- 19. I am always willing to assist other workers from the organization, even when I don't have much time available
- 20. Usually, I also perform tasks that are not related to my specific duties

### **Organizational Conscientiousness**

- 21. Frequently, I arrive late at work (R)
- 22. It's really difficult for me to miss work, even when I'm feeling sick
- 23. I would never adopt actions that could harm the well-being of the other workers
- 24. When I think that the goals of the organization conflict with my personal goals, my dedication to work decreases (R)
- 25. I take my job really seriously, so I always comply with the rules and procedures imposed (by my supervisor or by the organization), even when no one is around

### **Interpersonal and Relational Skills**

- 26. My communication skills are so good that I'm always able to capture everyone's attention
- 27. Communication inside organizations, even in workgroups, is fundamental so that people can perform their tasks effectively
- 28. When I write a message to others (other workers or students) I feel a certain difficulty in expressing what I'm thinking
- 29. When someone has a different opinion from mine, I usually convince them that my opinion is the best

### Appendix C

New General Self-Efficacy Scale Chen et al., 2001

### Instructions

Using a *seven-point* rating scale please respond using the scale under each item. To calculate a score, take the average of all of the responses. A higher score indicates a greater self-efficacy.

### **Response Format**

Please indicate the best answer to each of the following statements, given that '1' means 'strongly disagree', '2' means 'disagree', '3' means 'somewhat disagree', '4' means 'neither agree nor disagree', '5' means 'somewhat agree', '6' means 'agree' and '7' means 'strongly agree'.'

### New General Self-Efficacy Scale

- 1. I will be able to achieve most of the goals that I have set for myself.
- 2. When facing difficult tasks, I am certain that I will accomplish them.
- 3. In general, I think that I can obtain outcomes that are important to me.
- 4. I believe I can succeed at almost any endeavor to which I set my mind.
- 5. I will be able to successfully overcome many challenges.
- 6. I am confident that I can perform effectively on many different tasks.
- 7. Compared to other people, I can do most tasks very well.
- 8. Even when things are tough, I can perform quite well.



Not valid for renewal of certification through CME.

# IRB # 2 Social and Behavioral Emphasis - AU Personnel - Basic/Refresher

Has completed the following CITI Program course:

(Curriculum Group)

## IRB # 2 Social and Behavioral Emphasis - AU Personnel (Course Learner Group)

1 - Basic Course

(Stage)

Under requirements set by:

**Auburn University** 



Verify at www.citiprogram.org/verify/?w64c68fa2-8c89-4125-a178-12b28df5d88f-27895260